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Second Defendant 

 
 

This is a signed judgment handed down by the judge, with a direction that no further record or transcript need be made pursuant to Practice 

Direction 6.1 to Part 39 of the Civil Procedure Rules (formerly RSC Ord 59, r(1) (f), Ord 68, r1). See Practice Note dated 9 July 1990, [1990] 2 All 

ER 1024. 

 

 

JUDGMENT 

 

 

HH Judge Kramer 

 

1. The claimant is the leasehold owner and operator of an airfield at Eshott in Northumberland. It is represented by 

Mr Latimer, of counsel. The defendants are the owners and occupiers of land adjoining the airfield from where 

they operate a business trading under the style of Northumbrian Woodland Burials. As the name suggests, they 

provide a burial service for human and animal remains and ashes within a woodland setting. They are represented 

by Miss Jarron, of counsel. 

2. The claimant complains that the growing of trees on the defendants’ land is interfering unlawfully with the use of 

their airfield. It frames its case in three ways, alleging that the presence of trees constitutes: 

a. an interference with an express easement through the defendants’ air space in favour of their land. The 

claimant claims that the easement entitles aircraft from the claimant’s airfield to travel over the defendants’ 

land at a height which is safe for the aircraft. This requires that there is 20 feet of clear space beneath the 

aircraft, measured from the ground. Any incursion into that space amounts to an interference. The 

interference is substantial because  the flight requirements of aircraft taking off and landing are such that 

they should have the facility of travelling at such  heights  over the defendants’ land but this has been 

prevented by the presence of the trees. 

https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/citationlinkHandler.faces?bct=A&service=citation&risb=&ALLER&$sel1!%251990%25$year!%251990%25$sel2!%252%25$vol!%252%25$page!%251024%25
https://www.lexisnexis.com/uk/legal/citationlinkHandler.faces?bct=A&service=citation&risb=&ALLER&$sel1!%251990%25$year!%251990%25$sel2!%252%25$vol!%252%25$page!%251024%25
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b. A derogation from the grant from which the title derives, namely a conveyance dated 2 February 1993 

under which the airfield and easement were conveyed to the freeholder,  which granted them their lease. 

The derogation arises from the presence of trees, the height of which, renders landing and take-off more 

difficult and also trees which disrupt airflow so as to have an impact on aircraft stability both when leaving 

and approaching the airfield runways but also when passing along the runways.  

c. A breach of the measured duty of care. 

The claimant seeks injunctive relief directed at the removal, and reduction in height, of certain trees and 

damages for loss consequent upon their presence. 

3. The defendants’ response to the claim can be summarised as follows: 

a. As regards the express easement: 

i. It cannot be construed as having the meaning put forward by the claimant for it would have the effect 

of ousting the defendants from the land, which would render it incapable of existing as an easement. 

ii. If it can exist as an easement, it should be construed in such a way that it permits pilots to fly at low 

level while arriving or leaving the airfield, but only at a safe height above what is on the land- not at a 

height which would permit pilots to approach the apron of the runway at an angle of 2.5 to 3°, as 

claimed by the claimant. 

iii. Construed, as suggested by the defendants, the trees do not substantially interfere with the claimant’s 

use of the easement as safe landing and take-off is possible despite the presence of the trees. 

iv. The defendants cannot be compelled to cut down trees to enable the claimants to use the easement as 

it is an essential characteristic of an easement that it does not place upon the owner of the servient 

tenement  any obligation to act 
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b. As to the claim for non-derogation from grant: 

i. There is no room for the operation of this principle because the parties to the 1993 conveyance set out 

in clear terms the grantor’s obligations in relation to overflying the retained land. 

ii. A claim based on derogation by interfering with the airflow so as to cause turbulence was only added 

by amendment at the beginning of the trial and is not well supported by evidence. 

iii. There has been no substantial interference with the use of the airfield, as such, to justify a finding of 

derogation from grant. 

c. The measured duty of care does not arise in the circumstances of this case because: 

i. It is not fair, just and reasonable to impose such a duty. 

ii. The duty should not be extended to dangers posed by trees on the defendants’ land as these are 

natural things. 

iii. The duty is a branch of the law of negligence. The tort of negligence requires damage to found a 

cause of action. There is no damage or threatened damage capable of founding a cause of action in 

negligence arising from the trees because the only damage to which the claimant could point would 

be pure economic loss due to its inability to operate the airfield, which does not qualify as damage for 

this purpose. 

4. The defendants’ case as to the relief claimed is that they accept that if the grounds for an injunction  are made 

out, this is not a case for ordering damages in  lieu. Nevertheless, any injunction should be limited to the trees closest 

to the aprons of the  northbound and eastbound runways. 
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Site Background 

4. The history of the site is that both parties’ properties consisted of  farmland, known as Bockenfield  Farm. 

Between 1942 and 1944 runways were laid out on the farm for RAF Spitfire training.  The  relevant runways for 

present purposes are runway 08/26, which is the west/east runway, and 01/19, which is the north/south runway. At 

that time, the runways were much longer than those at Eshott airfield, running beyond the boundaries of the farm. 

In 1944 the whole of the land was returned to agricultural use.  

5. The Bell family purchased Bockenfield Farm on 28 December 1984. They used it for sheep grazing and arable 

farming. In 1985 Mr P Bell, one of the owners, obtained temporary planning permission for  part of the disused 

airfield  to be used by single piston engined light aircraft. The permission was renewed in 1987 for a further period 

of 10 years and expressed to include ‘microlight aircraft’ within the expression ‘light aircraft’. There is  

unchallenged evidence  that the airfield now operates under a full planning permission for aircraft up to a weight 

of 5700 kg and it is not suggested that it is still limited to piston engined aircraft. The Bell family reopened the 

airfield for the use of amateur pilots, their friends and families. I have been shown logbook entries evidencing 

numerous flights by Jim Shepard in a PA 28 aircraft between 1983 and 1985.  

6. On 2 February 1993 the Bells sold the runways and some land adjacent to the north-south runway to Eshott 

Airfield Limited. They retained much of the remainder of Bockenfield Farm, including the land now occupied by 

the defendants. Paragraph 3 of Schedule 3 to the conveyance contains the following grant to the purchaser:“the 

unrestricted right to use at a safe height the airspace above the retained land for the passage of aircraft in circuit 

arriving or leaving the property.” The right is registered on the purchasers’ title, number ND80828. At the time of 

the sale the airfield was surrounded by open fields used in agriculture and some farm buildings. The land owned 

by the defendants was entirely open. 

7. By a lease dated 20 June 2016, Eshott Airfield Limited leased the airfield to  Bockenfield Aerodrome Limited for 

a period of 20 years.   Clause 2.2 to the lease provides that the grant of the lease is made together with ancillary 

rights, including those intended to benefit the land subject to the lease and referred to in the register of title ND 

80828. The right also appears on the register of the leasehold title, no. ND 188034. In addition to the right 
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concerning over-flight, the lease included the benefit of an informal agreement  with a neighbouring farmer, Mr 

Muir of Blackbrook Farm, to use an extension of the east-west runway at an annual fee. This was part of the old 

RAF runway which extended beyond the eastern  boundary of Bockenfield Farm. The claimant’s subsequent loss 

of use of this extension has featured in the evidence. 

8. The defendants’ land was acquired from the Bells by Stephen and Susan Clarehugh, the first defendant’s parents, 

on 2 November 1994. Its boundaries resemble the outline of a cone, the bottom of which bends to the east. They 

follow the eastern edge of the A1, its embankment and a layby, and to its east, runway 01/19 until it reaches 08/26,  

the westerly part of which runs across the end of 01 into the north-east edge of the top of the cone.  

9. On 23 July 2001 Stephen Clarehugh obtained planning permission to use the land as a woodland burial ground. 

The permission was subject to conditions. No development was to start until a 10 metre hedge, which ran along 

the eastern boundary, i.e. adjacent to 01/19, had reached 2 metres and all other tree planting shown on a drawing 

attached to the permission had been completed. The trees are shown on the drawing as oak and ash. They are 

described in the planning officer’s report to the planning committee as a “40m belt of trees to the north and 50m 

belt of trees to the west, as a screen to the A1” The first defendant says that his father planted 16,000 trees on the 

site following the grant of planning permission. He and the second defendant have jointly owned and managed the 

site since 2015. The title is registered under number ND88406. He says that the number of trees have reduced to 

12,000 due to woodland management. There is no dispute as to the number of trees originally planted or as 

currently in situ. 

Site Layout 

10.  There are two plans attached to the judgment to assist with orientation. Plan A shows the parties’ respective 

holdings and the layout of the runways. Plan B is an overhead view of the defendants’ land and the adjacent 

runways. The darker areas, which  appear as dark green on the electronic copy of the judgment, are those planted 

with trees.  
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11. There has been much mixing of metric and imperial measurements in the course of the evidence. I have retained 

the mix in the judgment in order to follow the evidence more closely, rather than convert all measurements to 

metres in the interests of uniformity.  

12.  The airfield has two operating runways. Those operating west/east are numbered 08/26 and those north/south, 

01/19. The numbering refers to the magnetic compass bearing of the runway to the nearest 10°, with the last digit 

removed. Thus, runway 08 runs in compass direction 80°, i.e. west to east, and runway 26, compass direction 

260°, east to west. It is 500 metres long and 12 metres wide. Runway 01, runs south to north and 19, north to 

south. It is 610 metres long and 12 metres wide. There is a grass runway adjacent to the east side of 01/19. Grass 

runways are required for aircraft which have a tail skid, as opposed to a rear wheel, and are preferred by planes 

which have rear wheel steering. Each runway is marked with its number, in paint, a few metres beyond the runway 

apron. The airfield is approached from the southbound carriageway of the A1, near Felton, Northumberland, via a 

road, described as a layby as it leads back onto the A1.  

13. Beyond the end of runway 08 there is a fence on the boundary with Mr Muir’s land, behind which lies, on  part of 

the old RAF runway ,  large numbers of straw bales and a piece of agricultural machinery which he said he put in 

place to warn incoming pilots of the presence of the fence and to prevent low flying. He took this action after 

terminating the claimant’s licence in 2019. To the north of runway 08/26 are the remains of the full width of the 

old RAF runway which  lies on the land of yet another farmer, Mr Brown.  

14. At the west end of 08/26 there is a fence marking the boundary with the defendants’ land. About 37 metres from 

the 08  runway marking, and about 60 metres further back, there is a wood which extends west to the defendants’ 

boundary with the A1 and thereafter runs south. The claimant alleges that trees in the greater part of this wood 

interfere with take-off from 26 and landing onto 08 and asks that almost all of them be removed. At the site view, 

some of the trees in the line nearest to the runway 08 measured  about 23.5ft. There were also  some shorter trees 

but further back in the wood a tree has been measured at 28.5ft, according to the claimant. 

15. At the north end of runway 01 the land is open onto the adjoining farm beyond the claimant’s boundary. At the 

south end there is a boundary fence about 32 metres from the  01 marking. A further 61 metres to the south of the 
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fence is the start of a wood which goes north and west, leading to the layby and the embankment to the A1. The 

trees here are said to be between 29 – 33 feet. The access road to, and over,  the defendants’ land starts by running  

north west, along the northern edge of the wood, and  turns  north in a line parallel with 01, terminating along the 

boundary with 08.  The claimant alleges that part of this wood interferes with landing on 01 and take off from 19  

and seeks the removal of almost  the entire  wood. The defendants call this area Griffin Wood.  

16. Slightly over one third of the way down 01, and on the defendants’ land,  is a rectangular wood, called Merlin 

Wood. The claimant alleges that the presence of the wood produces turbulence to passing aircraft and seeks that 

about three quarters of the wood, starting immediately to the west of 01, be uprooted and that the remainder be 

kept to 10 metres in height. Mr Latimer indicated that the claimant does not seek the uprooting of any tree which 

covers human remains but such trees would need to be reduced in height; the claimant does not include trees 

marking the position of buried ashes within this concession. 

17. Entering the defendants’ land from the layby one passes along the access road. Immediately to the left is Griffin 

Wood. This had been used for pet burials since 2018. Mr Clarehugh, the first defendant, says that it is made up of 

592 mature trees, a small number of which have animal remains beneath. He says that removal of the trees would 

require the exhumation and relocation of the remains which would require permission of the Animal and Plant 

Health Agency. To the right of the road at this point are sheep paddocks.  

18. Moving further along the access road there is Merlin Wood to the right, lying between the road  and runway 01/19.  

This is used for interring ashes. Mr Clarehugh says that there are 356 trees in the wood and, at the time of making 

his statement, removal of the trees to ensure no regrowth would require removal of and the disturbing the remains 

of 51 people. 

19.  Passing further along the road, there is a space set aside for the construction of a crematorium, for which planning 

permission has been obtained. Beyond that, and to the left of the road is Clarefield Meadow which is used for 

coffin burials. According to Mr Clarehugh there are 3150 trees forming a woodland screen around the meadow 

and 170 mature trees directly on top of graves in which human remains are present. He says that to remove the 

trees from each grave would require the consent of the next of kin and an exhumation certificate from the Ministry 
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of Justice. In the centre of Clarefield Meadow is Holly’s Garden in which there are buried 10 children. 

Notwithstanding that Mr Clarehugh says that it would cause outrage if any remains were disturbed, he told me he 

has not forewarned any of those with connections to the deceased about this case. I was concerned as to whether 

there were third parties who had a proprietary interest in the plots, as he referred to them having been purchased 

by those responsible for the burial, but he told me that all they acquired was a right to place the remains in his 

land. 

20. Plan B shows the extent of the woodland which the claimant asks be removed or reduced. It seeks the removal of 

all trees between the lines numbered 1 on the plan and between lines 1 and 2. It requires that trees between lines 2 

and 3 are reduced to 10 metres and maintained to not exceed that height and that all trees in the area bounded by 

line number 3 and the A1 are to be reduced to 15 metres and kept at no more than that height. 

 

The issues  

21. In broad terms there are 5 issues to consider. They are as follows: 

a. How should the grant of the easement  in the 2 February 1993 conveyance be construed? 

b. In the light of the construction, have the defendants substantially interfered with the easement? 

c. Have the defendants derogated from the grant constituted by the 2 February 1993 conveyance? This would 

include not just the grant of the easement but the conveyance of land which was to be used as an airfield. 

d. Do the defendants owe the claimant a measured duty of care arising from the alleged hazard to the claimant 

posed by the trees, and if so, are they in breach? 

e. If the answers to b, c, or d, establish that the claim against the defendants is  made out,  
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i. what should be the claimant’s remedy and, 

ii. in relation to b, c and d , has the claimant suffered damage in consequence and, if so, in what 

amount? 

Construing an easement 

22. The court’s approach to construing a conveyance is  helpfully set out  in Gale on Easements, 21
st
 Ed at 9.20 as 

follows: 

“The more important principles in this area can be summarised as follows: 

(1) interpretation is the ascertainment of the meaning which the document would convey to a reasonable person 

having all the background knowledge which would reasonably have been available to the parties in the situation in 

which they were at the time of the execution of the document; 

(2) the court will focus on the meaning of the relevant words in their documentary, factual and commercial 

context; 

(3) the meaning of the words is to be assessed in the light of— 

(a) the natural and ordinary meaning of the provision; 

(b) any other relevant provisions in the document; 

(c) the overall purpose of the relevant provisions; 

(d) the facts and circumstances known or assumed by the parties at the time that the document was executed; 

(e) commercial common sense; 
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(4) the process is an objective one in which one disregards subjective evidence as to the intentions of the parties; 

(5) the general rule is that all relevant facts and circumstances can be taken into account as an aid to interpretation 

of the words used in the document; 

(6) as an exception to the general rule referred to in (5) above, the court will not take into account the contents of 

pre-contractual negotiations save in so far as those negotiations reveal the existence of a background fact which is 

otherwise relevant; 

(7) there is a further exception to the general rule referred to in (5) above where the document in question is only 

effective when registered in a publicly accessible register. 

 

23.  Only the 7
th

 of these principles has proved controversial in this case, though, in the event, the disagreement as its 

application is of no consequence. Accordingly, I do not need to explore the width of the rule in detail. This 

exception to the general rule is to  be found in the case of Cherry Tree Investment Ltd v Landmain Ltd [2012] 

EWCA 736 where the Court of Appeal held that a facility agreement,  which provided for the defendant to execute 

a charge in favour of a lender and that the money due thereunder  became immediately due on execution of the 

agreement, was not relevant material to consider when construing the meaning of the subsequent charge which 

should have, but did not, make reference to this provision or the facility agreement, notwithstanding that the 

defendant was aware of its terms. The court was limited to looking at the background information which the 

reader of the register of  title could reasonably be supposed to know. Mr Latimer argues that  the decision was 

peculiar to the facts of the case and should not be looked upon as authoritative in dictating the court approach to 

the construction of an easement. 

24. The editors of Gale do not agree with Mr Latimer’s assessment of the importance of Cherry Tree Investment and 

neither do I. It is clear from the judgment that the  court was not formulating some special rule for the particular 

circumstances of Cherry Tree but was applying a well settled principle to the facts of that case. So much is 
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apparent from the list of other circumstances in which the principle has been applied referred to by Lewison LJ at 

paragraph 125 of the judgment, and his reliance upon the articulation of the principle in Phoenix Commercial 

Enterprises Pty Ltd v Canada Bay Council [2010] NSWCA 64 and Attorney General of Belize v Belize Telecom 

Ltd [2009] 1 WLR 1988, at paragraphs 128 to 130 of the judgment.  

25. Whilst the question as to what information can be taken into account as part of the factual matrix on the grounds 

that it was reasonably available to the parties has most recently be described as “a slightly controversial area”, see 

Rockliffe Hall Hotel Ltd v Travelers Ins Co Ltd CC-2020-NCL-000011 per Cockerill J at paragraph 32, the dispute 

concerning Cherry Tree is of no significance because although Miss Jarron referred to the decision and said that I 

should bear it in mind, she did not identify any of the background facts relied upon by Mr Latimer as being 

irrelevant to the issue of construction, following an application of the authority. Furthermore, Lewison LJ, at 130, 

recognised that physical features of the land are proper considerations when interpreting a transfer or conveyance. 

That is consistent with his reliance upon what was said in the extract he quoted from Phoenix Commercial, at 128, 

where Campbell JA said that the background knowledge which can be used as an aid to construction is such 

knowledge as “ is accessible to all the people who it is reasonably foreseeable might, in the future, need to 

construe  the document.” 

The construction of the express easement 

26. It is convenient at this point to re-state the words of the grant. It appears in the property register for title ND80828 

as: 

a. “ The unrestricted right to use at a safe height the airspace above the retained land for the passage of 

aircraft in circuit arriving or leaving the property.” 

27. The claimant’s case is that the “safe height” referred to in the grant is that which  is safe from the point of view of 

the aircraft. The phrase “in circuit” is a term of art in aviation circles referring to the path which aircraft are 

expected to follow when approaching or leaving an airfield. These are rules of navigation which,  just like rules of 

the road, enable the aircraft in the vicinity to know where each is expected to be. Mr Latimer argues that the 
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‘height’ is that which is safe for aircraft landing or taking off and that the court has to take into account the 

handling characteristics of light aircraft in construing what is meant by the term “safe height”. 

28. Mr Latimer relies upon the claimant’s expert evidence as showing that where an aircraft has to undertake  these 

specific tasks there are limits to how steeply it can approach the runway and take off in order to do so safely. 

Safety dictates that the pilot should aim to have a stable approach on landing and this requires a flight path which 

is at an angle about 3 degrees to a point about 10 feet above the numbers at the end of the runway. Obstacles at the 

end of a runway are hazardous because they force the aircraft to maximize the angle of climb which can promote a 

stall and are a   risk  to  pilots overshooting the runway, if faced with mishaps such as an engine failure, or having 

to abort a landing and go around again, i.e. gain height and speed so as to return to the circuit and attempt a further 

landing. The safety factor available to aircraft as they cross the defendants’ land should be 20 feet of clear airspace 

beneath, if possible, though it will be less as it passes over the boundary between the two properties. Drawings 

have been provided by the claimant  which show that to achieve 3 or 4 degree rates of descent and a 20 foot safety 

margin would require that many of the trees on this flight path would have to be removed or markedly reduced in 

height. 

29. Against this background the claimant asked me to construe the easement as conferring upon it a right to take off 

and land over the defendants’ land through an air corridor which permits landing at 3 degrees  and provides a clear 

area beyond the runway which enables a plane to overshoot without coming into collision with any obstacles. It is 

said that there are circumstances surrounding the grant that favour such a construction. In particular, I am asked to 

take into account that at the time of the grant the defendants’ land was open fields, the vendor  was operating the 

airfield for the use of amateur pilots flying light aircraft, there was planning permission for this purpose in force 

for  aircraft of the type used by the claimant, and  a PA 28 aircraft is known to have been using the airfield, as is 

apparent from an airfield  log book produced in evidence. In addition, Mr Latimer argues that the statutory 

provisions and the common law  concerning the use of airspace further supports the construction relied upon by 

the claimant. 
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30.  Miss Jarron’s  starting point is that the easement is one which permits that which would otherwise be a wrong 

against the defendants, as servient owner, namely to fly in circuit over their land which, she argues, would 

otherwise be a nuisance and trespass. The defendants’ case is that the grant permits flight over the defendants’ 

land and all the other retained land referred to in the 1993 conveyance,  when in circuit, in order to land upon or 

take off from the claimant’s runway.  There is no limit to the number of planes that can take off and land during 

the day or at night, that being the relevance of the reference to an “unrestricted right to use”,  but they can only 

fly at a height which is safe from the point of view of the people, machinery and buildings  below. It does not 

permit flying at low level such  as to endanger those on the ground.  The grant permits the aircraft using the 

aerodrome to pass over the defendants’ land at a safe height above the trees but it is up to the pilots to maintain a 

safe height taking into account what is below them. 

31. The defendants ask me to take into account a number of factors when construing  the grant.  Miss Jarron points out 

that the right was granted over all the retained land, not just that owned by the defendants, so should not be 

interpreted differently from the right as it affects other retained land. As other parts of the retained land were built 

on at the time of the grant, it cannot permit surface level flying. It only permits flight at a height which is safe 

having regard to what is on the ground. The meaning is reinforced by the fact that no reasonable pilot would want 

to fly at an unsafe height, thus the reference to use at a safe height  is a qualification to the grant not an additional 

benefit to the grantee.  

32.  I was referred to the defendants’ expert evidence which, it is said, demonstrates that light aircraft can land at  

steeper angles than 3 degrees and  there is no requirement that they land at this angle. The expert  relies upon the 

Aeronautical Information Circular 127/2006, issued by the Civil Aviation Authority on  7
th
 December 2006 which 

provides that on take-off the pilot is expected to calculate the adequacy of the runway on the basis that they can 

pass  the threshold of the airfield at 50 feet. A similar calculation is required for landing. Thus, it is argued,  the air 

corridor which is subject to the grant must take into account that any aircraft will already be at 50 feet as it leaves 

the airfield. Further, at the time of the grant the airfield was used by microlights and light aircraft. Miss Jarron 

places reliance on the terms of the proposal for planning permission in 1984 which indicated that use was sought 

for single piston light aircraft with a condition that aircraft were not to be used between 7pm and 9am, which 
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proposals were carried into the permission. At that stage there was no licence to provide training at  Eshott though 

now the claimant prays in aid the fact that the trees should be removed as less experienced and student pilots may 

find it too challenging if they have to manoeuvre over the trees. 

33. Miss Jarron argues that the claimant’s construction must be incorrect because if the grant permitted aircraft to 

overfly at a height so low as to achieve a 3 degree angle of approach, the defendants could not use their own land 

due to the danger of aircraft colliding with vehicles or those  working on the land. She referred me to  Reilly v 

Booth (1890) 44 Ch D 12 as authority for the proposition that there is no easement known to law  which gives the 

dominant owner exclusive and unrestricted use of a piece of land. She further argues that an easement cannot 

impose a burden on the servient owner to accommodate the rights of the dominant owner, such as by cutting down 

trees, for the character of an easement is such that it requires no more than sufferance on the part of the servient 

owner; she referred me to Jones v Price [1965] 2 Q.B. 618 and Moncrieff v Jamieson [2007] UKHL 42 in this 

respect.  

Discussion and conclusion on the construction of the grant 

34. The legislative and common law governing the use of airspace over land  is relevant to the issue of construction as 

it is the legal background against which the grant was made. Furthermore, the parties to the 1993 conveyance can 

be taken to have included the grant for some purpose, namely to enable the owner of the aerodrome to do 

something which it could not do otherwise. What are the rights of a land owner in relation to the airspace above 

their land and of aircraft to pass through that airspace?   

35. The parties accept that, on the authority of  Bernstein v Skyviews & General Ltd [1978] 1 QB 479 the rights of the 

owner are restricted to “the air space above his land to such height as is necessary for the ordinary use and 

enjoyment of his land and the structures upon it, and…above that height he has no greater rights in the air space 

than any other member of the public” see per Griffiths J (as he then was) at 488A. Flight over the property of 

another above such height does not constitute a trespass to airspace or, without more, a nuisance. Overflight which 

interferes with the reasonable enjoyment of land, such as by making unreasonable noise or of unreasonable 

frequency could amount to a nuisance. That was the position at common law at the time of the grant.  
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36. Section 76  of the Civil Aviation Act  1982 provides: 

“(1) no action shall lie in respect of a trespass or in respect of nuisance, by reason only of the flight of an aircraft 

over any property at a height above the ground which, having regard to wind, weather and all the circumstances of 

the case is reasonable, or the ordinary incidents of such flight, so long as the provisions of any Air Navigation 

Order and of any orders under section 62 above have been duly complied with and there has been no breach of 

section 81 below.” 

Section 62 related to  the control of civil aviation  in time of war and  emergency and section 81 concerned 

dangerous flying. They are of no relevance here. 

37.  The Civil Aviation Act 1982 empowers the Secretary of State to make  Air Navigation Orders by way of statutory 

instruments. Such orders permit the Secretary of State to make the Rules of the Air which are to be followed by 

those piloting aircraft. The rules used to provide that aircraft must  keep 500 feet above  people except for take-off 

or landing. The most recent Rules of the Air, which took effect on 25 March 2020, require pilots to keep to a 

height of at least 500 feet above the ground or water or the highest obstacle within a radius of 500 feet from the 

aircraft save when passing over assemblies of people or cities, towns and settlements where a greater height must 

be maintained and save when landing or taking-off. 

 

38. The instructions contained in the 2006 Aeronautical Information Circular as to screen height are not relevant to the 

construction of the grant first, because it does not require that aircraft pass over the runway threshold at 50 feet 

and secondly, because the 2006 instruction cannot have been in the contemplation of the parties in 1993. I 

consider the true impact of  the AIC 2006 in greater detail when looking at the issue of substantial interference.  
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39.  In the light of the common law and statutory restrictions on overflying, the grant may be seen to have been 

necessary to enable pilots on circuit and prior to coming into land, and after take-off, to overfly the servient land at 

heights and with a frequency which may otherwise have been actionable.  

 

40. The other relevant factual background is that at the time of the grant the demised land was being used as an 

aerodrome for  light aircraft by the vendor  and there was planning permission for this purpose. The runways at the 

time of the grant were the same length as they are now. The airfield has always been one at which pilots land by 

sight and can be expected to adjust their flight paths by reference to what they observe. Evidence of use by a 

particular PA 28 aircraft prior to the transfer may fall within the Cherry Tree category of evidence not available to 

third parties, this point was not argued, but what is undoubtedly relevant is that the runways were, and are, of a 

length which can accommodate such aircraft. The airfield was surrounded by open farmland. Whilst there were 

some farm buildings on parts of the demised land, the areas leading to and from the runways were not built upon. 

There was nothing to prevent aircraft using the two runways from landing or taking-off at low heights over the 

servient land, subject to the need to ensure the safety of those on the retained land by keeping a safe distance from 

both people, animals  and agricultural machinery, but  being agricultural land, their presence would have  been  

intermittent. Aircraft in circuit would also need to avoid the buildings on other parts of the retained land.  

 

41. Mr Latimer argues that account must be taken of his expert evidence to the effect that there is a maximum height 

over the servient land at which a light aircraft must be able to fly in order to land at a 3 degree angle of approach 

so that anything which reduces the airspace within  that height must be removed.  This is relevant, however, if the 

reference to a “safe height” means one that is safe for the aircraft as opposed to those on the ground. Given that at 

the time of the grant there would only have been transient obstacles liable to have been on the defendants’ land, 

there was no need to include such a provision for the benefit of aircraft for there was no permanent physical 

restriction preventing low flying.  
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42. I agree with Miss Jarron that the pilots can, and must, decide what amounts to a safe height at which to fly. I also 

agree with Miss Jarron’s submission, on the authority of Reilly v Booth (above)  that as this was expressed as the 

grant of an easement, it cannot have been intended to prevent a use of the retained land by the servient owner for 

general agricultural purpose which may entail, for example, the presence of people, animals, farm machinery and 

such other materials as one might expect to find on agricultural land. If they could not use their land at all due to 

low overflight  they would be excluded from the land and that state of affairs is not consistent with the existence 

of an easement or the fact that the way was granted over agricultural land. Furthermore, a right to overfly which 

permitted the dominant owner to fly at heights which were dangerous to those on the ground is most unlikely to 

represent the objective intention of the parties to the transfer. A court is slow to impute to the parties an intention 

to produce an absurd situation, as this would be; Gardner & another v Davis and another, Court of Appeal 

(unreported) 15 July 1998, [1998] Lexis Citation 3106 per Mummery LJ at p.9, a case concerning the construction 

of an easement of drainage. 

43. The people who need the protection inherent in the requirement that flight is to be at a safe height are those on the 

ground who have no other control over the danger posed by overflight,  not those in control of the aircraft. The 

evidence concerning angles of descent is relevant to the questions as to whether the trees now in place constitute a 

substantial interference with the easement, derogation from grant or breach of the measured duty of care, but not 

the construction of the grant, for at the time of the grant there was nothing to prevent pilots from flying as low as 

they chose, save for the requirement to fly at a safe height. 

44. The objective observer with the relevant background information would have concluded that the grant permitted 

aircraft from the airfield to fly over the defendants’ land within the airspace which would otherwise amount to a 

trespass or nuisance, whilst in circuit or in the process of landing or taking off, provided they maintained a height 

above the ground and buildings, as matters stood at the time of the grant, which was safe for people  on the 

retained land, such animals and other machinery, materials and crops as one would expect to find on agricultural  

land and the buildings on the retained land.   
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45. Such a construction precludes the claimant’s suggestion that the easement includes the right to use the defendants’ 

land as a run-off area to protect pilots from error or mishap. Although not put in those terms by Mr Latimer, it was  

inherent in the claimant’s complaint that aircraft overshooting the runway are liable to collide with the boundary 

fence and trees if they fail to leave the ground or take off too far down the runway. The easement provides for 

overflying at a safe height. That cannot include trespass on to the surface of the defendants’ land or, for whatever 

reason, passing over it at heights which are unsafe in the sense I have indicated. 

46. What amounts to a safe minimum height will vary according to what is on the ground at any particular time, for of 

its nature, agricultural land will be used by machinery of varying heights, so what may be a safe height on a day 

when there is a wagon or a tractor being used on the land may be different on a day when there is not. The pilots 

have to set their height to take such transient conditions into account. They cannot rely on the “easement as 

justifying what would otherwise be a trespass because the easement is not, in fact, being fairly or properly 

exercised” per Parker J in Jones v Pritchard [1908] 1 Ch 630 at 638. The pilot is in no different position from the 

dominant owner driving along a right of way. The right must be “fairly or properly exercised” and  this requires 

that they take into account the safety of others entitled to be on the way, including the servient owners. The 

question as to what amounts to a safe height at which to clear the ground or people, equipment and other materials  

on the ground, is answered by the expert evidence and can be considered alongside the issue as to whether the 

defendants’ trees substantially interfere with the easement. 

 

 

Have the defendants substantially interfered  with the claimant’s use of the easement? 

 

47.  The law as to what amounts to an actionable interference is not controversial. The principles were set out by 

Briggs J (as he then was)  in Zieleniewski v Scheyd [2012] EWCA Civ 247 at paragraph 11, where he said: 
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“ For present purposes the applicable principles may be summarised as follows: 

1. Not every interference with a right-of-way is actionable. The owner of the right may only object to activities, 

including obstruction, which substantially interfere with the exercise of the defined right as for the time being is 

reasonably required by him. 

2. The question whether the owner reasonably requires to exercise his right in a particular way is to be addressed by 

reference to convenience, rather than necessity or even reasonable necessity. 

3. Thus, if an obstruction interferes with a particular mode of exercise of the right which it is neither unreasonable 

nor perverse of the owner to insist upon, then the obstruction will be an actionable interference even if there 

remain other reasonable ways of exercising the right which many, or even most, people would prefer. 

As Blackburne J put it “The test of an actionable interference is not whether what the grantee is left with is 

reasonable, but whether his insistence on being able to continue the use of the whole of what he contracted for is 

reasonable.” 

48. The claimant has adduced lay evidence of interference from pilots who have used the airfield. In addition, the 

claimant relies upon expert evidence from Kenneth Fairbank. 

49. The lay evidence can be dealt with in summary. Stephen Slater is the chief executive of the Light Aircraft 

Association. He has been a pilot for 20 years. He last flew at Eshott in July 2019. He said that the usable length of 

the runway was reduced because of the obstacles, by which he meant the trees, in particular, those to the west of 

runway 08. He said this was not the principal runway he used  due to the obstruction created by the trees. On 

landing, he attempts to approach at an angle of between 3 to 5 degrees but  the trees erode the amount of airspace 

he has available. He did not have difficulty when he last flew into Eshott in July 2019 because he was flying a 

vintage Auster aircraft which can land steeply and over a short distance. Nevertheless, on that occasion he used 

runway 1/19 as it gave a little bit more space and thus permitted a safer approach. 
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50. Ian Parkinson has been a pilot for 35 years. He has flown from Eshott since the late 1990s. When he first operated 

from Eshott there were no trees adjacent to the airfield and when they were initially planted they caused no 

problem as they were very low to the ground. He said that the first defendant’s father, Steve Clarehugh, had told 

him in 2001  that he was paid to put the trees in and in due course he would be paid to remove them. It was 

suggested to Scott Clarehugh that this was evidence of some long term plan to avenge a disagreement he had with 

the airfield owners at the time but I take the view that this is utterly implausible given the timescale involved. In 

fact, Mr Parkinson said that  Stephen Clarehugh had a good relationship with the former owner of the airfield, 

Storm Smith, and he continued to fly at Eshott until his untimely death in a road traffic accident.  

51. Mr Parkinson’s  experience in the period after the trees developed in height  is that when using runway 08/26 he 

can no longer take a  full tank of fuel if there are more than two people on board his plane because he does not 

have adequate  room on the runway to ensure he has sufficient lift to take off and clear the trees. This has been a 

particular problem over the last two years. On landing, he has clipped the trees on the defendants’ property,  when 

coming into land, and he has not been able to land on the first quarter of the runway due to the angle of descent 

required consequent upon the presence of the trees. The ideal approach for his type of aircraft is one of a 3 

degrees. He used to fly approximately 100 hours a year but, lately, this is been much restricted due to the presence 

of the trees. 

52. Derek Wright is a commercial airline pilot who  has been flying for about 37 years. He also said that his desired 

angle of approach is 3 degrees. At that angle the trees  obscure the view of the threshold of the runway and you 

cannot see the numbers. When landing on 08, in order to land as close to the beginning of the runway as possible, 

a sudden increase in speed and rate of descent is required at a late stage once the painted numbers become visible. 

This has the effect of destabilising the approach. When taking off towards the west he limits his fuel load and 

passenger numbers to ensure he has an extra safety margin so as to clear the trees. Based on his recent flights from 

Eshott, the situation was much more serious than it had been approximately six months before his statement, that 

being dated 18 September 2020. He uses Eshott approximately three times a month. His aircraft can be caught in 

turbulence on take-off and landing which is exacerbated by the presence of the trees. He produced a video 

showing  him landing on 08 which, he said, indicated that he was about 60 feet above the airfield when landing, 
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which was  significantly higher than ideal and caused him to land further down the runway than would be best 

practice.  

53. Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate both gave evidence that the presence of the trees at the ends of the runways interfered 

with the passage of aircraft in that they rendered take-off and landing unsafe and removed the scope for aircraft to 

overshoot the runway or to take off from far down the runway in the event that they had to abort a landing.  Mr 

Pike also exhibited some online comments from two individuals who were supportive of the contention that 

landing was difficult because of the presence of trees. Mr Woodgate spoke of his own experiences of turbulence 

produced by the trees at the end of the runway reducing lift and the difficulty in taking-off and landing due to the 

height of the trees. There are features of these witnesses’ evidence which caused me to be concerned that they 

were unreliable, but in relation to their evidence of their experience of flying in the vicinity of the trees they are 

supported by the three other pilots from whom I heard.  

54. Mr Pike produced a safeguarding chart for the area around the airfield, as support for the removal of the trees, 

which he said recommended that there should be nothing above ground level. On questioning Mr Pike, however, it 

appeared that this document is prepared for planning authorities to trigger an enquiry if permission is sought to 

develop in the vicinity of an airfield. There is no legal requirement that nothing can be built on land in the 

safeguarding zone, indeed, the crematorium planned for the defendants’ land, and which has the claimant’s 

support, is within the zone. In the light of that explanation, the safeguarding map is not relevant to the questions I 

have to decide.  

55. Both Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate referred to an accident which occurred on 26
th
 October 2018 in which a trainee 

crashed a Piper PA28 Cherokee aircraft as it was landing on runway 26. Mr Woodgate claims that the pilot said 

that he had landed too far down the runway due to mechanical turbulence and he jammed on the break in panic as 

he was unable to “go-around” due to the presence of the trees. I shall deal with the evidence concerning the PA28 

when I look at the issue of damages. For the present, it is sufficient to record that I do not accept the evidence of 

Mr Pike or Mr Woodgate to the effect that the presence of the trees contributed towards the crash. I shall also deal 

with their evidence concerning the crash of another aircraft, a Kitfox, when considering damages. I do not regard 
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what happened to the Kitfox as relevant to the issue of the interference with the easement or other pleaded causes 

of action. 

56. Mr Woodgate gave evidence as to the measurement of the trees. He said that in the line of trees nearest the 

defendants’ land from runway 08, there were trees 23.69ft in height and further back there were trees to a height of 

28.54ft. As regards the defendants’ land to the south of runway 01, the trees ranged from 29.46ft nearest to the 

runway and rose to 33.66ft further back. At the site view a tree in the line closest to runway 08 was measured and 

the measurement produced broadly matched Mr Woodgate’s evidence  in relation to that area.  

 

57. The defendants’ factual evidence as to the ability of aircraft to take-off and land notwithstanding the presence of 

the trees was limited. Mr Clarehugh said that microlights and light aircraft under 2730Kg had used the airfield for 

years and there had been no issues with take-offs and landings. He referred to an event in 2016 called Fly the Tyne 

where large numbers of light aircraft and microlights took off and landed without incident. In cross-examination 

he accepted that he was not aware that the weight limit for aircraft was 5,700kg.  

 

58. Mr Clarehugh gave evidence as to the type of machinery which could be expected on his land, the largest of 

which, a digger, measured 16 feet in height. He considers that any aircraft flying over his land at 30ft or less is a 

danger to those on the land. He was also cross-examined at length as to what had been agreed with the claimant as 

to the cutting or removal of trees. Other than to note that his responses did not always seem consistent with the 

emails dealing with this subject, such evidence was of no assistance. Mr Clarehugh did give important evidence 

concerning the claim for loss to which I shall refer when dealing with that issue. 
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59. There was further evidence about Fly the Tyne events from Douglas Coppin, who was called by the defendant. He 

is a member of the British Microlight Aircraft Association (BMAA)  and a microlight pilot and inspector. He 

organised these events in 2016 and 2018 and said that of the 110 pilots who took part none complained about the 

trees- he did not fly on either occasion as the organiser is not permitted to fly. When describing these events, 

during cross-examination, it was apparent that the aircraft concerned were micro-lights apart  from one Cessna 

150. Aircraft took-off from runway 01 and banked to the left over the defendants’ land. He said that his microlight 

was hangered at Eshott from December 2012 to August 2015 during which time he organised another event called 

Eshott Escapades where 20 competition pilots undertook a number of skills tests and none raised issues about the 

trees. He stopped flying from Eshott in 2018.  

60. Mr Coppin started his responses to cross-examination by saying the  BMAA  does not support the claim. That was 

an unpromising start as his role was to provide factual evidence relevant to the flying of aircraft in the presence of 

the trees rather than to convey the stance taken by an organisation of which he is not an officeholder and upon 

whose behalf he had not been asked to speak; there was no evidence from BMAA itself that it had anything to say 

on the subject. Furthermore, he told me. quite unnecessarily, that there had been an incident involving Mr Pike’s 

aircraft in the South of France where two people had died. In these two respects, Mr Coppin does appear to be a 

partial witness so I have to be careful in evaluating his evidence.  

61. The defendants also relied upon the evidence of Mr Bell who, with his family, had sold the airfield and granted the 

easement,  and Mr Muir the adjoining farmer. Much of Mr Bell’s evidence was inadmissible, insofar as he sought 

to explain what he had sought to achieve when granting the easement. He was, however, able to give background 

evidence as to the use of the airfield both prior to and at the time of the sale. 

62. Mr Muir’s evidence did not go to the issue as to whether the trees on the defendants’ land were an obstacle to safe 

flight. It was concerned with explaining why he had terminated the licence to use part of the runway on his land 

and demonstrating that he had suffered from low and dangerous flying, an arson attack on hay bales he had placed 

on his land to mark his boundary, theft of a tractor key by Mr Woodgate and the subject of a malicious report to 

the police that he was endangering aircraft.  
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63. Mr Pike sought to deal with these allegations by making completely unnecessary allegations of fraud against Mr 

Muir which were pursued in cross-examination. These allegations were supported by nothing more than Mr Pike’s 

word, which, for reasons which I deal with later,  did not seem to me to carry much weight. Mr Muir denied any 

wrongdoing and, since these matter were raised, I consider it necessary to say that these allegations were not made 

out. As regards an allegation by Mr Woodgate, that Mr Muir and his wife had staged an accident in which she 

whipped her horse so as to throw her  in order to pin the blame on low flying aircraft, I consider  it is inherently 

implausible. Mr Muir’s evidence as to the malicious report to the police, the burning of his hay bales and the theft 

of his tractor key are supported by photographic and other documentary evidence. As regards his denials of fraud 

and staging an accident, I prefer his account of events where it differs from that of Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate. 

The expert evidence 

64. The claimant’s expert,  Mr Fairbank, is a specialist in air accident and incident investigation, flight operations and 

commercial flight crew training. He has 40 years’ experience in aviation. He was well qualified to provide an 

opinion as to the effect of the presence of the trees on the movement of aircraft. He described what a pilot is trying 

to achieve in the course of landing.  

65. First, it is desirable to have a stable approach and maintain a steady speed. Secondly, the pilot will want to have as 

much of the runway available as possible. When flying by sight, as is the case at Eshott, a pilot will seek to aim for 

the numbers at the end of the runway, passing over them at about 10 feet. As the aircraft gets close to the runway 

the pilot pulls back on the controls to level the line of flight. This is called the flare. From there, the pilot will 

allow the aircraft to descend towards the runway by reducing the power but holding up the nose. This permits the 

aircraft to make contact with the ground as the speed decreases. Steeper angles of approach are liable to produce 

instability because the aircraft’s speed will increase in the descent, is thereby more difficult to control and it is 

more difficult to judge when to flare resulting in a hard or premature touchdown. Any misjudgement at this stage 

can result in the aircraft floating for an extended distance thereby needing more runway. In his report he suggested 
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that an angle of 3°  represents a good compromise for an angle of descent, though in evidence he accepted that a 

range of approaches between 3° and 4.5°  were workable although at 5° there were aircraft which might struggle. 

66. As regards an adequate safety margin, Mr Fairbank was of the view that the pilot should have a 20 foot gap of 

airspace  above any obstacles situated  below. The claimant produced some  helpful scale drawings illustrating the 

height of the aircraft at 3° and 4° rates of descent for both runways relative to the trees and boundary fence. These 

show that landing at 3°,  an aircraft travelling from the south onto runway 01 would first pass over the defendants’ 

land at 34.76 feet,  pass the northern face of the first plantation at 26.02 feet and clear the boundary fence at 15.6 

feet in order to reach a place 10 feet above the numbers. At 4° the figures would be, in the same order, 43.04 feet, 

31.38 feet and 17.48 feet. For runway 08 at 3° the aircraft would encounter the trees bordering the A1 at 55.56 

feet,  pass over the eastern face of the trees closest to the runway at 19.94 feet and the boundary fence at 16.41 feet 

in order to  reach a point 10 feet over  the numbers. At 4° the equivalent figures are 70.8 feet 23.26 feet and 18.56 

feet. These figures were not subject to challenge. 

67. Mr Fairbank expressed the opinion that the trees on the defendants’ land interfere to a significant extent with the 

unrestricted right to use the airspace above their land. The trees presented a safety concern. The angles currently 

required to clear the trees with a safe margin on landing are far in excess of what he would consider normal.  

68. On take-off and landing  pilots are likely have to make modifications to standard take-off and approach profiles, 

special techniques which would not be required if the trees were not there or reduced in height. The height of the 

trees denied pilots essential visual cues. Some aircraft, which would otherwise be able to the use the runways, are 

prevented from doing so by the presence of the trees; this was a reference to the performance characteristics of 

three types of aircraft, a PA 28, Cessna 150 and EV 97 Eurostar. Applying safety factors recommended by the 

civil aviation authority for take-off and landing, based on tree heights of 30 feet and allowing a margin to clear the 

trees of 20 feet, the EV-97 could achieve a sufficient height, the Cessna’s ability to reach an adequate height  was 



2 
 

marginal and the PA 28 was unable to clear the trees and required an extra 20% of runway. In cross-examination 

he said that these calculations were based on the maximum weight of the aircraft but the performance could be 

improved   by reducing weight. It is common ground that this is usually achieved by limiting the fuel or number of 

passengers on board.   Using the same safety margin for landing, i.e. clearing 30 foot trees by 20 feet, the EV-97 

could not land in the distance available using the distance from 50 feet, the Cessna 150 and PA 28 could, but the 

latter took up 89% of the landing distance available. The trees require pilots to land further down the runway, 

increasing the risk of a mishap. The trees also interfere with the ability to use the airfield for training as this 

requires flying to normal standards, i.e. not having to adopt special techniques.  

69. The principal evidence upon which the defendants relied in disputing the allegations concerning the impact of the 

trees upon aircraft was the expert evidence from Captain Kingswood. He has over 40 years of experience in 

aviation, first in the RAF, subsequently as a commercial and private pilot, in the training posts he has held and in 

Air Accident Investigation and as the safety officer for a flying school. He too was well qualified to provide expert 

opinion on the impact of the trees. 

70. Capt. Kingwood is of the view that the trees are not an obstacle to safe take-off and landing for a number of 

reasons. First, there is no general aviation requirement for light aircraft to land at approach angles of        2.5° to 3°

. Secondly, light aircraft are capable of landing at very much steeper angles and these are often required when, for 

example significant headwinds are present, when the angle can be in the region of 6° to 8°. Thirdly, aircraft taking 

off should achieve a height of 50 feet by the end of the runway, called the screen height, thus there is no prospect 

of them coming into contact with the trees. The pilot is required to ensure that there is sufficient runway to be able 

to reach this screen height on take-off and to land from a screen height of 50 feet; Captain Kingswood relies on 

Aeronautical Information Circular  (AIC) 127/2006 issued by the Civil Aviation Authority which contains 

recommendations for calculations made by reference to the performance data of aircraft models and various other 

factors to ensure that based on a 50 foot screen height there is adequate runway for a safe take-off and landing. He 

says that the legal obligation on the pilot to take-off and land safely can be discharged, as regards demonstrating 

that there was adequate runway length, by performing the recommended calculation.  
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71. Capt. Kingswood said that Eshott was no different from several unlicensed airfields around the country as regards 

the presence of trees. He referred to Civil Aviation Publication (CAP) 738 entitled ‘Safeguarding Aerodromes’.  

The document provides guidance to airfield operators on planned developments. He pointed to those parts of CAP 

793 indicating that an aerodrome safeguarding map is for  guidance only, its purpose being to indicate areas in 

which development could affect aerodrome operations, that the operator of an  aerodrome must suspend their 

operations if an obstruction has been positioned in the path of an aircraft. In the chapter dealing with aerodrome 

physical characteristics,  there is a recommendation that runways should be designed so that trees, power lines, 

high ground and other obstacles do not obstruct its  approach and take-off paths. It is also recommended that there 

is no obstacle greater than 150 feet above the average runway elevation within 2000 metres of the runway 

midpoint.  

72.  Reference was also made to Article 209 of the Air Navigation Order 2016 which places the legal responsibility 

for the safe operation of aircraft on take-off and landing on the airfield operator and the pilot in command. He 

sought to draw the conclusion that continued operations at the airfield indicated that the claimant considers that 

the current environment at the airfield offers appropriate levels of safety to aircraft and that the current growth 

height and location of the trees is within the guidance set out in CAP 793. He also suggested that the fact that the 

claimant had not referred to the trees in a pilots guide to airfields, Pooley’s Guide, is an indication that the 

claimant does not regard the trees as presenting a hazard to aircraft using Eshott. 

73. As regards the accident involving the PA 28 aircraft in 2018 he was of the view that the presence of the trees 

played no part. There was a light west north-westerly wind on that day, thus any buffeting experienced by the pilot 

was not the result of wind passing over the trees on the defendants’ land. He points to the contents of the report on 

the accident by the Air Accidents Investigation Branch (AAIB). There is no reference in the report to the pilot 

expressing concern about the trees. He said that he had touched down later than normal and in a panic to stop 

slammed on the foot breaks.  The experience had taught him the importance of discontinuing the approach and 

going around if he was not happy with any of the flight parameters. The AAIB commented that runway 26 is 

shorter than runways typically used for ab initio training and landing and such runway could be considered as 
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challenging for an early soloist.  Capt Kingswood was of the view that the crash was as a result of a mishandled 

approach and poor decision-making which, he said,  is often a factor during pilot training. 

74. Capt Kingswood was asked to consider the operation at Eshott of  particular types of aircraft, a PC 12, which is a 

turboprop, and a Harvard, a training aircraft used to train fighter pilots during World War II. Applying the 50 foot 

screen height and the factors set out in AIC 127/2006, he reached the conclusion that the PC 12 could not take off 

and land at its maximum permitted take-off weight. The aircraft could use runway 01/ 19, even in a crosswind 

although the width of the runway, at 12 m, would have a risk attached as it is 4 metres narrower  than the 

wingspan of the aircraft. He thought the airfield would be marginal for PC 12 use. As regards the Harvard, safe 

operation would not be possible at Eshott if the AIC safety factors were applied due to the length of the runways, 

not the presence of trees.  

75. There was a large measure of agreement between the experts in the joint report. In particular, they agree that 

approach angles steeper than 3°   are acceptable in general aviation but there is a limit as to how steep they can be 

depending on wind conditions and aircraft type. It will be in excess of 3°, but it is difficult to establish a maximum 

figure. Certain types of aircraft, typically heavier and faster types, will always be limited in using Eshott 

regardless of the trees. Pilots have a legal obligation to check that the aeroplane has adequate performance for the 

proposed flight. The use of the safety factors in AIC 127/2006 is accepted as best practice and the 50ft threshold 

crossing height is one of the criteria used for determining the  length of runway required. There is no requirement 

that landing aircraft must cross the runway threshold at no less than 50 feet nor that on take- off they must reach 

that height by the end of the runway.  

76. The experts disagree as to whether it is optional or mandatory to perform the distance to landing and to take-off 

calculations; Mr Fairbank suggest the former and Capt. Kingswood the latter. Mr Fairbank considers that the trees 

are an obstacle to landing as they force aircraft to approach at a steeper angle which might preclude an aircraft 

from landing or increase the risk of running out of runway. They are also an obstacle to take-off as the pilot will 

need to refer to the take-off distance to 50 feet in the performance data for the aircraft to ensure adequate clearance 
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over the trees, and this may impose penalties, by which he means measures such as lightening the load; the 50 feet 

clearance data is based on his suggestion that a pilot would need to clear 30 feet trees by a further 20 feet in order 

to pass at a safe height.  

77. Capt. Kingswood opinion is that the trees do not interfere with landing or take-off as the pilot has to calculate the 

sufficiency of the runway length by reference to arriving and leaving 50 feet over the runway threshold. If that can 

be achieved, there is no need for a plane to be flying near to the trees or to achieve an over steep landing. He 

accepted calculations put forward by Mr Fairbank which  show that an aircraft passing over the trees to the west of 

runway  08 would lose 43% of runway , at 3° degrees, and 21% at 5 degrees, if it flew at 50 feet at the trees but  

says that the 50 feet, based on a 30 foot tree and 20 foot clearance, is an arbitrary figure as there is no need to clear 

the trees by 20 feet, 10 feet would be sufficient, steeper descents can be managed, much depending on wind 

conditions, and it assumes that the aircraft will not manoeuvre to avoid obstacles.   

78. The disagreement as to the need to be able to achieve a 50 foot screen height is one of the  key issues in dispute 

between the experts. There are other disagreements between them, some of which are not matters for the experts,  

such as what should be made of the facts that the flying school has placed restrictions on its activities and that the 

airfield operators have not put more restrictions on flying. They also disagree as to the application of CAP 793 to 

this airfield, but not on an issue relevant to the issues in this case. In any event, the CAP does not provide that 

obstacles of less than 150ft within 2000m of the runway are immaterial to the safe operation of the airfield. Capt. 

Kingswood accepts that an obstacle of 150 feet on the arrival track to Eshott would be an issue.  They also 

comment in different ways upon the threshold crossing clearances for aerodromes equipped with glideslope visual 

lighting aids, which Eshott is not. They agree that for the certification of these aids  the target height for airfields 

receiving light piston powered aircraft is 20 feet wheel clearance at the runway threshold with a minimum height 

requirement of 5 feet.  

79. Both provided their opinions on whether the passage of aircraft they were shown on film, and those observed by 

Capt. Kingswood at his visit to the site, evidenced whether or not the aircraft were taking-off and landing in a 

stable or normal manner. Mr Fairbank thought not and Capt. Kingwood was of the view that they were, but this 
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was highly anecdotal, depending on the pilot and the weather conditions and aircraft on view. Save for film of a 

landing on runway 01, it was difficult to relate the unsafe features of the landing described by Mr Fairbank to what 

could be seen on film. Nevertheless, there was the evidence of Mr Wright as to his filmed landing which he had 

said was steeper than it ought to have been due to the trees. There was also the landing on runway 01 on which a 

Cessna could be seen to come in quite steeply, over flare and touch down beyond the south side of the trees at 

Merlin Wood, thus overshooting the first third of the runway, which is where touch down should occur. Capt. 

Kingswood said he did not have a lot of concerns about this landing as he could not see where the touch-down was 

and he was dubious of the camera angle. 

80.  I did not detect a problem with the camera angle and the reason the touch- down was not visible was because the 

aircraft had passed beyond the start of Merlin Wood, i.e. over a third of the way down the runway, whilst still 

airborne. Mr Fairbank described what he had seen as an example of an unstable approach, where a pilot who has 

come in over the trees, dived for the runway, reducing power but increasing airspeed, thus leaving less time to 

assess the landing flare. On this piece of evidence, I preferred the opinion of Mr Fairbank as his description 

accorded with what I could see, but recognise I have to be careful not to lay too much weight on such a limited 

sample of landings. 

81. The issue of turbulence was only touched upon by the experts and is not mentioned in their joint statement at all. 

Mr Woodgate said in his statement that he had experienced turbulence and wind shear due to the trees at the ends 

of runways 26 and 19. Mr Wright said these trees generate turbulence and wind- shear, though he did not give 

evidence as to an occasion when this had affected his flight. In cross-examination Mr Pike said that wind from the 

trees to the side of runway 01changes the airflow and requires a huge correction.  

82. Capt.Kingswood  was cross-examined about the presence of turbulence, wind shear and their  effect. He said that 

trees around the runway can produce turbulence depending on wind speed and aircraft were particularly 

vulnerable when taking-off and landing as they were travelling at slow speed. Wind shear occurs when the wind 

changes in direction and speed. This is a predictable event and when it occurs it is not a day for flying light 

aircraft. He did not attribute wind shear to the presence of trees.  
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83. Capt. Kingswood accepted that the trees at Merlin Wood could cause turbulence on the downwind side of the 

wood which would be variable. His report indicated that many airfields have large buildings such as hangers 

which produce turbulence and he identified 9 airfields whose entries in Pooley’s Guide warn pilots of potential 

turbulence due to the presence of trees. These are matters which pilots are expected to take into account in the 

management of their aircraft. He accepted that there could also be turbulence down wind of the trees at the ends of 

the runways but said that the pilot will allow for this when considering take-off performance.  

 

 The parties’ contentions 

84. Mr Latimer points to the evidence of 5 witnesses, all pilots, who speak of the difficulties they have experienced 

due to the trees, and says that their evidence is supported by Mr Fairbanks. Capt. Kingswood is in the minority in 

the view he expresses, but even he accepted that the trees would interfere with take-off and landing to some 

extent, albeit he said that it was manageable. He argues that the difficulties caused by the trees is substantial both 

because there is evidence of the damaging impact they have had on safety and because it is not unreasonable for 

the claimant to insist on the use of the full extent of the airspace it enjoyed before encroachment by the trees, as it 

enables pilots to achieve a stable landing more easily and gives them fewer complicating factors to take into 

account on take-off. 

85. Miss Jarron argues that the difficulties suggested by Mr Latimer are overstated. I should reject the evidence of Mr 

Pike and Mr Woodgate, as they are partial and unreliable witnesses in any event. Mr Parkinson is prone to 

exaggeration, as is apparent from his letter to Mr Muir concerning the termination of the licence in which he said 

that it would prevent him from using his plane at Eshott, yet there he remains. Mr Slater said he could land steeply 

due to the characteristics of his aircraft and Mr Wright accepted he was able to achieve a safe landing. Mr 

Fairbank accepted, in an addendum report, that if the trees were substantially shorter than 30 feet this would have 

the effect of reducing the immediate influence of the trees somewhat, which Miss Jarron claims is a concession 

which reduces the influence of the trees from a substantial interference to one which should be acceptable. She 

says that  the height of the trees cannot interfere with the passage of aircraft as they should be passing the screen 
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height of 50 feet, both on take-off and landing. Finally, there is her point about the obligations of a servient owner 

being merely passive. The trees doing what they do naturally, i.e. growing into the airspace is not something 

which the defendants are required to remedy, thus it cannot amount to an interference with the easement by them. 

Discussion and Conclusion   

86. My starting point is that at the time of the grant users of the airfield could overfly the defendants’ land as low as 

they chose provided that maintained a safe height. I accept that pilots are required to ensure that they have 

sufficient runway to take-off and land. The argument as to whether or not  the pilot is required to perform an AIC 

127/2006 calculation is a red herring, for in the joint statement both experts accepted that use of the factors in this 

document are recommended and generally used as best practice. The 50 feet screen height figure is taken from the 

AIC. In response to my questions, Mr Fairbank suggested that the applicable guidance was no longer in this 

document but in the Skyway Code, which makes no reference to the 50 feet figure. He did not produce a copy of 

the Code and he did not refer to it in the joint statement when dealing with the significance of the AIC. Capt. 

Kingswood said AIC/127/2006 is still current and on the AIC website and is different from the Skyway Code. I 

prefer Capt. Kingswood’s evidence on the point in view of his consistency on this issue together with the absence 

of any reason being provided as to why this safety factor, which is accepted as best practice, has been withdrawn. 

That said, however, whilst the AIC calculation provides comfort as to the adequacy of the runway length for the 

aircraft in the conditions prevailing on the day, it does not regulate or prohibit an aircraft landing or taking-off at a 

lower screen height provided that is safe. The runway length requirements produced by the calculation will be 

good up to a 50ft screen height. 

87. The key question to ask, therefore, is as to what is the minimum flying  altitude upon which the clamant can 

reasonably insist? Much of Capt. Kingswood’s evidence was directed at demonstrating that the claimant should be 

able to overcome the effect of the trees by steeper descent and ascent and adjusting for the presence of turbulence. 

These are factors relevant to a different question, namely, whether the use of the airspace sought by the claimant is 

reasonably necessary.  
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88. The fact that  the experts agree that aircraft approach angles steeper than 3° can be managed and are acceptable in 

general aviation does not mean that the claimant is unreasonable in insisting upon use of sufficient airspace to 

achieve that angle, or one close to it, provided that pilots are able to  keep to a safe height over the defendants’ 

land during the descent.  There is a good reason why pilots would wish to be able to land at a shallow constant  

angle as this promotes stable flight. I accept the logic of Mr Fairbank’s evidence that it is more difficult to judge 

the point at which to flare the aircraft and to control landing speed and position at steeper descents because the 

aircraft naturally  picks up speed as it descends, which is contrary to what the pilot is trying to achieve, and can 

lead to the aircraft being caused  to float above the runway for a distance instead of touching down, as appeared to 

be the case of the landing on runway 01 upon which both experts commented. It is not unreasonable to insist upon 

having the option to land in as stable a manner as is available. 

89. Similar considerations apply to take-off, where the fewer obstacles in the path of the aircraft the less there is for  

which the pilot needs to make adjustments. The same can be said about the reduction in turbulence at the ends of 

runways 01 and 26.  

90. There is evidence from the claimant’s witnesses, which I accept, that the trees are forcing aircraft into steeper 

approaches than the pilots would wish and present a hazard. Mr Wright, Mr Slater and Mr Parkinson all struck me 

as reliable witnesses. The fact that Mr Parkinson was prepared to engage in what may have been hyperbole in an 

attempt to persuade Mr Muir to relent does not cause me to doubt that conclusion. Their evidence accorded with 

the description of how a pilot goes about achieving a landing, which itself is consistent with the CAA approved 

training manuals exhibited to Mr Pike’s third statement and is consistent with the video of Mr Wright’s landing 

and that of the aircraft on runway 01 commented on by the experts. There was some evidence to the contrary from 

Mr Coppin, but it seemed to me that his experience was largely with microlights, which generally have short take-

off and landing capabilities, according to Capt. Kingswood, and he did appear to want to argue the case. In any 

event, he is not in a position to say that the claimant’s witnesses did not experience difficulties due to the trees, 

and I prefer their evidence on the subject.  
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91.  As to take-off, there is evidence from the claimant’s witnesses Parkinson and Wright, that they limit the amount 

of fuel and number of passengers to ensure that they can clear the trees on runway 26. Mr Parkinson has a similar 

problem on runway 19 and Mr Wright is concerned by the effect of turbulence at the south end of runway 19,  on 

take- off and landing. Whilst I have expressed reservations about the reliability of the evidence of the two 

directors of the claimant, Mr Woodgate’s evidence concerning the presence of turbulence at the end of runway 26 

is credible as it is  supported by Mr Parkinson and  Mr Wright  and  is consistent with Capt. Kingswood’s 

acceptance that the trees may be the cause. I accept this evidence. 

92. Insistence upon an approach at 3° is unreasonable if it would bring the aircraft to an unsafe height over the 

defendants’ land. I thus need to consider  what flight altitude should be regarded as unsafe. A good pointer on this 

issue is the margin for safe passage over the trees  relied upon by Mr Fairbank. He suggested that pilots would 

need to clear the trees by 20ft in order to err on the side of safety. Mr Parkinson regards that as a thin margin as 

regards take off. Mr Clarehugh regards anything under 30 feet as unsafe. Capt. Kingswood said that a 20ft 

clearance figure on landing  was arbitrary and that clearing the trees at all is acceptable. He would be comfortable 

passing over an obstacle at 10ft. Mr Fairbank also said that heights of 15.6ft over the 01 runway  boundary fence 

and 16.41ft over the 08 boundary fence were safe, but he did not give a rationale for the reduction.  It looked as if 

these figures simply fitted the  workings as to height above the ground when landing at 3° degrees. 

93.  The point of having a clearance height is that there will necessarily be some imprecision in the positioning of the 

aircraft which requires a margin for error or deviation to be built in to the figure so that there is no danger of 

striking people or objects on the ground.  Capt. Kingwood’s figure allows for almost no margin, and if he is 

correct would permit aircraft to pass over the boundary fence at not much over head height. In consequence, I 

prefer Mr Fairbank’s figure of 20 feet as a base figure whilst aircraft are landing and taking off. Aircraft should 

not be lower than 20 feet above ground at any point in this manoeuvre over the defendant’s land in order to 

maintain safety and if there are people or vehicles on the land, or indeed  over the crematorium,  greater height  

will need to be maintained to provide an equivalent clearance. I have not treated the current  boundary fence as 

one which needs a 20 foot buffer zone above as Mr Fairbank seems to accept that a closer pass over the fence is 
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acceptable and by that stage the aircraft are about to clear the defendants’ airspace.. The safe height is one which 

takes the aircraft to 20 feet above ground level at that point.   There may be occasions where even further 

clearance is required, such as where there are horses or other animals on the land which may be frightened by low 

flying aircraft. In the absence of such considerations,  those using the airfield should be able to fly an angle of 

approach as close to 3° to a point 10 feet over the numbers  as is consistent with crossing the boundary at 20 feet. 

This can be achieved by angles of descent in the of 4° to 5° degrees range, rather closer to the former than the 

latter,  a more precise calculation may be undertaken by the parties.  

94. The best evidence of measurement of the trees was that demonstrated to me on the site view and shown in the 

photographs to Mr Woodgate’s statement. This demonstrated that the defendants’ case that no trees at the end of 

runway 08 exceeded 16 feet was incorrect. The only alternative evidence I have is that of Mr Woodgate who has 

been able to demonstrate the accuracy of some of his measurements. I find that there are trees within the first line 

to the west of runway 08 which are 23.69 feet and this rises to 28.54 feet further in to the plantation. At the end of 

runway 01 tree heights ranged from 29.46 feet to 33.66 feet. The height of the trees beyond runways 01 and 08 

prevent a steady descent to 20ft over the boundary. Accordingly, at their current heights they are substantially 

interfering with the claimant’s easement. Having considered the trigonometry, angles, distances and tree heights 

can be ascertained by applying the formulae for right angle triangles, the reduction in the height of the trees which 

will accommodate the angle of descent to which the claimant is entitled will eliminate the problems of turbulence 

at runway ends. I was not provided with figures as to the heights at which trees can cause turbulence, but the 

conclusion which I have drawn follows from the fact that Mr Pike’s evidence is that all he has sought from 2016 is 

for the trees on the runway approaches  be reduced in height, albeit he later hardened his stance, his acceptance 

that a 2 metre hedge along part of  runway 01 is not problematic and Mr Parkinson’s evidence that when the trees 

were low to the ground there was no problem. 

95. Miss Jarron’s argument based on the passive nature of an easement does not assist her. She likens the effect of the 

trees to a right of way which has become potholed over time. If that were an apt comparison, the owner of the 

dominant tenement would be entitled to repair the way, which translated into the facts of this case would permit 
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them take the reduction to the height of the trees into their own hands. This may be a saving to the defendants 

from the point of cost but it would hardly be attractive to them to see a third party taking these matters into their 

own hands. The comparison, however, is not apt, because the airspace has not become of less utility due to the 

ravages of time, or use, but because the defendants have infiltrated the space with their trees. A more apt example 

would be a servient owner who plants a hedge along the way, the growth of which causing significant narrowing 

to the point where it cannot be used as it ought. Utility of the way is not reduced by a change in the way but by 

what the servient owner is doing on their land. Rectification of the harm is not achieved by repairing the way but 

by ceasing the activity which is taking place on the adjacent land. So it is in this case. The defendants have 

interfered with the easement by growing trees into the airspace subject to the grant and are under a positive duty to 

desist, which they can only discharge by removing those parts of the trees which intrude. 

96. The diagrams produced by the Claimant demonstrate that the current height of some of the trees prevents pilots  

landing and taking off at angles to which they are entitled under the grant by depriving them of 20 feet of 

clearance as they cross the defendants’ land. Accordingly, I find that the defendants have substantially interfered 

with the claimant’s easement. Under the terms of the grant the claimant is entitled to insist upon adopting a flight 

path which enables pilots to arrive 10 feet over the numbers with at least 20 feet of clear airspace beneath them on 

the basis that they are no lower than 20 feet at the point of crossing the boundary between the parties’ properties. It 

would, however, be unreasonable for the claimant to require the clearance of obstacles which did not prevent 

landing along such a flight path as provided that this is preserved, the way can be as  conveniently used as it could 

in the absence of such obstacles.  

97. I do not need to deal with interference with the easement as regards take-off for provided the airspace is 

maintained to permit landing at the angle  upon which the claimant can insist, there will be sufficient clear space 

for take- off without forcing aircraft into a steep ascent. 

 

Derogation from grant 
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98. The claimant needs to rely upon this claim in relation to the complaint of turbulence caused by Merlin Wood as 

this is said to affect the claimant’s operations on their own land, not the use of the easement. It does not need to 

rely upon the doctrine in relation to the interference with the easement as it has the protection of the express 

easement.  

99. Mr Latimer said he relied upon the doctrine in relation to the express easement in order to counter Mr Jarron’s 

assertion as to the absence of a positive duty to maintain the airspace. He relies upon Carter v Cole [2009] 2 

EGLR 15, in which the Court of Appeal upheld a decision that a grantor of a right of way who planted shrubs and 

fenced the retained land so as to obscure the visibility of the way and make access potentially dangerous had 

derogated from the grant. He says that in this case I should read “trees” for fencing and shrubs and “interfering 

with passage through the airspace” for obscuring the site lines to the way. 

100. Miss Jarron argues that in relation to the express easement there is no room for the operation of the doctrine of 

derogation from grant because it arises in circumstances where the court implies an obligation from the 

circumstances which surround the grant, typically that the property has been let or sold to be used for a known 

purpose. Because this case concerns an express obligation there is no room to imply some other obligation. She 

refers to that part of the judgment in Browne v Flower [1911] 1 Ch 219 where, at 224 Parker J said: 

“The plaintiffs next relied on the maxim that no one can be allowed to derogate from his own grant. The maxim is 

generally (my emphasis) quoted as explaining certain implications which may arise from the fact that, or the 

circumstances under which, an owner of land grants or demises part of it, retaining the remainder in his own 

hands. The real difficulty is in each case to ascertain how far such implications extend.” 

101. As a matter of logic, the doctrine that no one is permitted to derogate from their own grant must apply with as 

much force to an express grant as to an implied one. Parker J was identifying circumstances where it is generally 

relied upon. It will not generally be relied upon where there is an express grant as there is no need to. I will accept, 

however, that the obligation not to derogate from the express grant is no wider than the obligation not to interfere 

with the easement.  
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102. If authority was need for these  propositions, it is to be found in Platt v London Underground Ltd [2001] 

2EGLR 121, referred to in Carter v Cole where Neuberger J said, at 122: 

“4. There is a close connection, indeed a very substantial degree of overlap, between the obligation not to derogate 

from grant, the covenant of quiet enjoyment, and a normal implied term in a contract. Thus, in words that apply 

equally to an implied term in a contract, Bowen LJ said in Myers v Catterson (1889) 43 ChD 470 at p.481, in 

relation to the derogation from grant principle, that one should give effect to what he called “the obvious 

minimum intention of the parties, so as to give the transaction between them a minimum efficacy and value which 

upon any view of the case it must have been their common intention that it should have.” In Southwark London 

Borough Council v Mills [1999] 4 All ER 449 at p.467F, Lord Millet explained that to a large extent, the covenant 

for quiet enjoyment, and the obligation of the landlord not to derogate from his grant amounted to the same thing.” 

Where better to ascertain the minimum intention of the parties if not from the express words of the grant itself? 

103. The live issue in this case is whether the growth and maintenance of Merlin Wood amounts to a derogation 

from grant. The parties are in agreement as to the principles which govern the doctrine of derogation from grant as 

regards implied obligations.  I was referred to Carter v Cole where the following principles, relevant to this case, 

are set out: 

a. The grantor cannot derogate from his grant, that is to say, he cannot take away with one hand that which he 

has given with the other. 

b. In order to determine whether there has been derogation it is necessary to determine the nature and  extent 

of the grant. 

c. The court must look at the purpose of the transaction in the light of the circumstances subsisting at the time 

it was entered into when seeking to identify what obligations can fairly be regarded as necessarily implicit. 

d. The terms of the grant will necessarily impinge upon the extent of the obligation not to derogate. 



2 
 

e. When considering a claim for derogation from grant one has to look not only at the terms of the grant but 

also the circumstances surrounding the terms of the grant as known to the parties. 

f. A useful test to apply is to consider whether the act of the grantor, of which complaint is made, renders the 

premises unfit or substantially less fit than the purposes for which they were granted. 

104. Mr Latimer relies upon the fact that the claimant’s land was an airfield at the time of sale, sold to an entity, the 

name of which alone indicated that it proposed to continue to carry on such use and it was granted express rights 

to pass over the airspace of the retained land in connection with its use as an airfield. Against that background, the 

grantors and their successors were under an implied obligation to refrain from actions which would render the 

airfield substantially less fit for that use. Merlin Wood has this effect due to the air turbulence is can produce on 

runway 01/19. 

105. Miss Jarron did not challenge the proposition that her client was under the implied obligation articulated by Mr 

Latimer but argued that the evidence did not support the allegation of derogation as regards Merlin Wood. The 

three pilots called by the claimants had not identified any difficulty with turbulence from Merlin Wood and Mr 

Fairbank did not deal with it in his evidence; he had been instructed that the areas of interest for him to consider 

were the woods at the ends of the runways. Mr Pike was the only witness who specifically commented upon 

turbulence at this part of the airfield, and that was only in paragraph 6 of his third statement, where he  said that 

side winds are more difficult to deal with due to the disturbance caused by Merlin Wood, but in cross-examination 

he said that the wood could stay, thus indicating he did not regard it as much of a problem.  

Discussion and conclusion 

106. Miss Jarron’s concession that the defendants are under an implied obligation not to render the aerodrome unfit 

or substantially unfit to be used as such was rightly made. The site was sold as an airfield in circumstances where 

both vendor and purchaser contemplated that it would continue to be used for the operation of light aircraft which 

would be taking-off and landing over the defendants’ land. For the same reason, they are under a like implied 
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obligation in relation to the  easement, the subject of the grant. Acting in a way which makes landing and take-off 

more hazardous than need be the case is a way of taking with one hand what has been given by the other. 

107. Albeit that it is not necessary to determine whether the trees at the ends of the runways amount to a derogation 

from grant, given my finding as to substantial interference, it must follow that the trees also amount to a 

derogation from grant as they render the airfield substantially less fit to be used as such due to the difficulties 

which they cause on landing and take-off, both due to the height of the trees and the turbulence they cause. 

108. Miss Jarron is also correct in highlighting the paucity of evidence concerning the impact of Merlin Wood. 

There was slightly more evidence than she suggested as Capt. Kingswood had said that the trees could cause 

turbulence. Mr Woodgate had not referred to Merlin Wood in his written statement, confining himself to 

commenting on the trees beyond the ends of the runways and those on what he called the splay, i.e. those trees 

slightly to either side of those at the end of the runway which would be overflown by aircraft turning as part of 

their landing approach. In cross-examination he said some compromise could be made in relation to Merlin Wood 

and the hedging beyond; he did not say, however, that this wood had caused him or others problems in managing 

aircraft. He said that the hedge could stay. As regards the trees it depended to what height they were managed. He 

said they were small now but he did not think there was time to go into the question as to how high they should be 

permitted to grow. He ended on this point by saying that the most difficult trees were those immediately to the 

west of 08/26. 

109. It does not follow from Capt. Kingswood’s evidence that Merlin Wood is capable of producing turbulence that 

it is causing difficulty in the management of aircraft going beyond the ordinary for the pilot of a light aircraft. Mr 

Pike’s evidence concerning turbulence at Merlin Wood lacked detail, he did not refer to any incidents, seems out 

of step with the independent pilots called by the claimant, is not supported by Mr Fairbank and both he and Mr 

Woodgate seemed ambivalent as to whether the wood could remain.  These factors, taken together with the 

caution which I need to exercise when evaluating his evidence lead me to a position where I am not satisfied that 

Merlin Wood is causing the airfield and, in particular, runway 01/19 to be substantially less fit to be used for the 
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operation of aircraft whether on landing or take-off. The claim for non-derogation of grant concerning Merlin 

Wood fails. 

The measured duty of care claim 

110. Mr Latimer said that if he succeeded on his case as to the interference with the easement or derogation from 

grant the measured duty of care did not arise. Nevertheless, it has been raised and I have rejected the claim based 

upon derogation from grant in relation to Merlin Wood. He argues that the duty arises where the defendant has 

knowledge of a hazard which can affect his neighbour,  has the ability to abate the hazard and it is fair just and 

reasonable to impose the duty. His case is that the height of the trees is the hazard, the consequences thereof are 

that aircraft may collide with the trees, the defendants are aware of the danger, are in a position to reduce the 

height of their trees and existence of the duty is fair, just and reasonable to safeguard the lives of pilots and 

preserve the jobs of staff at the airfield and its use by public bodies such as the military and coastguard. He says 

that issues of pure economic loss do not arise as his claim does not consist of such loss and dismisses, as smug, the 

defence pleading to the effect that  the trees are not in themselves dangerous but only become dangerous if pilots 

fly so close to them as to put themselves in danger. He argues that I can find support in all he says in Holbeck Hall 

Hotel v Scarborough BC [2000] QB 834 paragraphs [44]-[46] and the cases summarised in Gale on Easements 

(21
st
 Ed. 2020) paragraph 10-35 to 10-42.  

111. Miss Jarron argues that the duty only comes into play when there is a hazard on the defendants’ land which 

requires the defendants to take care not to cause damage to the claimant’s land. She says that in order to determine 

where the measured duty of care exists the court has to apply the 3 stage test in Caparo Industries Ltd v Dickman 

[1990] 2AC 605, namely (a) is harm to the claimant foreseeable, (b) is there proximity in the relationship between 

the claimant and defendant and (c) is it fair just and reasonable for such a duty to be imposed. She relies upon the 

fact that Caparo was referred to in Holbeck Hall. 

112. Miss Jarron says that there is a proximate relationship but harm is not foreseeable as the claim is for pure 

economic loss, i.e. lost income due to an inability to use the airfield for certain aircraft. She gives various reasons 

as to why it is not fair, just and reasonable. She relies upon the fact that the claimant has defined rights to overfly 
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the defendants’ land, it has the immunities conferred by s.76 of the Civil Aviation Act provided they comply with 

the Air Navigation Order. The pilots using Eshott are taking part in in inherently dangerous sport, which is to be 

contrasted to the defendants who are providing a socially useful service. The imposition of such a duty in the 

terms sought would place an unduly harsh burden on the defendants and no financial burden on the claimant. 

Finally, and independently of her other arguments, she says that the concept of the measured duty of care should 

not be extended to trees as these are natural things to have on the land. 

Discussion and Conclusion 

113. The cases relied upon by Mr Latimer are all cases in which there was a danger on the defendant’s land which 

either caused actual damage to that of the claimant or the risk of such damage was imminent, for example the fire 

in Goldman v Hargrave [1967] 1 A.C 645, the danger of landslip onto the land below in Leakey v National Trust 

[1980] Q.B. 485, the collapse in support in the Holbeck Hall Hotel, the removal of protection from exposure to 

rain water in Rees v Skerett [2001] 1 W.L.R. 1541, a danger from falling masonry and water leaks to the property 

below due to the failure to maintain the roof of an upstairs property in Abbahall Ltd v Smee [2003] 1 W.L.R. 1472 

and the risk of soil falling from the claimant’s property onto the defendant’s lower property in Ward v Coope 

[2015] 1 W.L.R. 4081.  Mr Latimer does not explain how these authorities translate to the circumstances of this 

case where there is no danger of anything escaping from the defendant’s land or withdrawal of support and  the 

trees present no hazard in themselves but only to aircraft which fly too close to them.  

114. Looking at these authorities, the minimum requirement for the existence of the duty is that there is a hazard on 

the defendant’s land which is causing injury to the neighbour or their land or is liable to do so. This is evident not 

only from the circumstances where it has been found to arise but also the description of the duty to be found in the 

cases.   

115. In Holbeck Hall Hotel, Stuart-Smith LJ said at paragraph 42: 
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“The duty arises when the defect is known and the hazard or danger to the claimant’s land is reasonably 

foreseeable, that is to say it is a danger which a reasonable man with knowledge of the defect should have foreseen 

as likely to eventuate in the reasonably near future.” 

116. In Leakey, Megaw LJ said, at 524: 

“The duty is a duty to do that which is reasonable in all the circumstances, and no more than what, if anything, is 

reasonable, to prevent or minimise the known risk of damage or injury to one’s neighbour or to his property. The 

considerations with which the law is familiar are all to be taken into account in deciding whether there has been a 

breach of duty, and, if so, what that breach is, and whether it is causative of the damage in respect of which the 

claim is made. Thus, there will fall to be considered the extent of the risk; what, so far as reasonably can be 

foreseen, are the chances that anything untoward will happen or that any damage will be caused? What is to be 

foreseen as to the possible extent of the damage if the risk becomes a reality? Is it practicable to prevent, or to 

minimise, the happening of any damage? If it is practicable, how simple or how difficult are the measures which 

could be taken, how much and how lengthy work do they involve, and what is the probable cost of such works? 

Was there sufficient time for preventive action to have been taken, by persons acting reasonably in relation to the 

known risk, between the time when it became known to, or should have been realised by, the defendant, and the 

time when the damage occurred? Factors such as these, so far as they apply in a particular case, fall to be weighed 

in deciding whether the defendant’s duty of care requires, or required, him to do anything, and, if so, what” 

117. The  above extracts identify the hazard as being one that gives rise to a risk of danger to the claimant’s land, by 

which must be included the claimant and their property on the land, given the facts of Holbeck Hall Hotel and the 

other cases to which I was referred,  and that the scope of the duty is influenced by, amongst other matters, 

whether it is practicable to  prevent the happening of the damage.  

118. The question as to whether the duty protects those who do not have an interest in the neighbouring land, for 

example pilots using the airfield, was not argued. Without deciding the point, given the absence of argument, it 

probably does not as the duty, though expressed as a duty of care, is a development of the law of nuisance, which 

seems to be the correct cause of action, see Leakey, per Megaw LJ at  514F, and only those with an interest in the 
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land are entitled to pursue this cause of action; Hunter v Canary Wharf Ltd [1997] A.C. 655. The issue is far from 

clear as in Ward Christopher Clarke LJ said at [37]” … Whether or not such a duty of care exists is to be 

determined by the law of negligence, not the law of property.” Nevertheless, the cause of action would seem to be 

nuisance. In Holbeck Hall Hotel Stuart-Smith L.J., when dealing with an argument as to whether the duty of care 

was confined to nuisance by encroachment but not by removal of support said, at paragraph 35: 

 “Encroachment is simply one form of nuisance; interference causing physical damage to the neighbour’s land and 

building as a result of activities on the defendant’s land is another form of nuisance. There seems no reason why, 

where the defendant does not create the nuisance, but the questions is whether he had adopted or continued it, 

different principles should apply to one kind of nuisance rather than the other. In each case liability only arises if 

there is negligence; the duty to abate the nuisance arises from the defendant’s knowledge of the hazard that will 

affect his neighbour.”  

119. Thus, the relevance of negligence is that it is the negligent failure to abate the nuisance which permits the 

injured neighbour to claim. The cause of action remains one of nuisance. What is apparent from the authorities, 

however, is that the cause of action seems to be confined to duties as between neighbouring land owners and does 

not encompass third parties with no interest in the endangered land. 

120. The trees do not present any danger to the claimant’s land. On my findings they interfere with the claimant’s 

use of the easement though not that part of the runway 01/19 next to Merlin Wood. The trees in themselves 

present no danger unless aircraft fly too close. The defendant’s pleaded case on this point, far from being smug, is 

accurate. In Leakey, Shaw LJ said, at 528 the theory underlying the duty as being  

 “the correlation of control and responsibility. As the owner of the land is normally in the best position to 

obviate or to contain or to reduce the effect of nuisance arising on his land, he should be primarily responsible 

for avoiding the consequences of such nuisance or compensating those who suffer by their occurring.” 

121.  The danger can be wholly avoided by aircraft keeping away from the trees or, if they cannot, ceasing to use 

this airfield. It is the airfield and the pilots using it who are in control of flight paths over the defendants’ land. The 
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correlation of control and responsibility in this respect must lie with the claimant and pilots.   As regards these 

defendants, the measured duty of care does not arise. In any event, it is not needed, as they are under an absolute 

obligation to refrain from committing a nuisance by interfering with the claimant’s use of the easement. Were it 

otherwise, that is to say that irrespective of any easement over the defendants’ land the claimant could claim that a 

neighbour, for example Mr Muir, was in breach of the measured duty of care if he failed to remove obstacles 

which prevented landing approaches of 3° to 4° over his land, they could force him to surrender rights  over his 

airspace to which they had no entitlement. In the case of Mr Muir’s land, the way to avoid the danger would be to 

keep away from the obstacles or, if that is not possible, refrain from using this airfield, just as it is with the land of 

the defendants. The claim that the defendants are in breach of the measured duty of care fails. Whilst I could stop 

at that point, I shall deal with the defendants arguments on this issue. 

122. Miss Jarron’s principal argument was that applying the tests set out in Caparo v Dickman the defendants do not 

owe the claimant a duty of care in relation to the trees. I do not need to go to Caparo. Whilst in Holbeck Hall 

Stuart-Smith LJ said at [51] that very similar considerations to the three stage test in Caparo apply when the court 

is  determining the scope of the duty, whether it is just to impose it and the extent of the duty, it does not arise in 

this case as there was no hazard to which it could apply. Her point concerning the trees being naturally on the land 

does not advance the defence, as Leakey and Holbeck  involved dangers arising from  natural conditions of the 

land. Finally, as regards her point that an action for a breach of the measured duty of care cannot be maintained as 

the tort of negligence requires proof of damage and what is claimed here is pure economic loss which does not 

qualify as damage for this purpose, once it is recognised that the cause of action can be framed in nuisance, that 

objection cannot be sustained. Damages for loss of user profits are recoverable in nuisance by a landowner, see 

McGregor on Damages 21
st
 Ed at Ch 39-026. Loss of use is also recoverable, if foreseeable, where damage to 

land is caused by negligence, see Ward v Cannock DC 1986 Ch 546. This is not pure economic loss but damage 

consequent upon an interference with the use of land. 

The damages claim 
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123. The claim is set out in the amended schedule of loss. A total of £207,984.34 is claimed. A further loss of just 

short of £23,000 appears in Mr Woodgate’s witness statement, but by the date of the trial, one month later, this 

was no longer pursued. I shall deal with each head of loss in turn. These claims rely to a great extent on the 

credibility of Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate, but their evidence in this respect has been found wanting, as I shall 

explain. 

The Harvard-lost bookings and fuel sales 

124. The owners of the Harvard airplane used the airfield each year to offer air experience flights. Mr Pike and Mr 

Woodgate said that the owners ceased using Eshott due to the trees. Mr Woodgate estimated that 30 flights would 

have been booked in 2019 and 40 in 2020 on the basis that there would have been 3 flying days, an increase on the 

2 days flown in 2018. The claim was for lost commission, fuels sales, overnight and landing fees. 

125. In order to support the claim,  Mr Pike exhibited to his statement an email  dated 27
th
 June 2019, purporting to 

come from Andrew Goodall, one of the Harvard pilots, stating that the owners had taken the decision to cancel 

flying at Eshott that year as the airfield was no longer suitable due to the trees at the end of the runway. Both Mr 

Pike and Mr Woodgate were asked about the Harvard’s use of the extension to the runway on Mr Muir’s land; Mr 

Clarehugh’s evidence was that he had been flown in the Harvard and on that occasion it had taken off from Mr 

Muir’s land. A video was played appearing to demonstrate this to be the case. Mr Pike said that the pilot did not 

need to use the extension for landing and he did not know why he had done that. Mr Woodgate denied that it was 

the loss of the runway extension which was the reason for the Harvard ceasing to operate. 

126. Just before the evidence closed, Miss Jarron asked for Mr Pike to be recalled to answer questions about another 

document, which appeared to be the original email send by Mr Goodall to Mr Pike; Miss Jarron explained she had 

just come across this email when looking through her papers. The email bore the same date and time as that 

exhibited to Mr Pike’s statement. The email reads:  

 “I’m sorry to say we have taken the decision to cancel this years flying event at Eshott Airfield due to your 

ongoing situation. The Harvard is a challenging aircraft at the best of times and whilst Eshott used to be an 
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entirely suitable airfield, I am afraid with the hay bails(sic) now placed deliberately at the end of the runway this is 

no longer the case. 

As 26 is your predominant runway, we would expect to be using it all weekend-we certainly can’t land over the 

top of hay bails (sic) 

If the runway restrictions are lifted in future, we would, of course love to return to your Wings & Wheels Festival 

and to carry out introductory flight experiences from Eshott. 

We hope everything gets sorted out for you soon and the bails (sic) are removed, it’s a ludicrous situation and a 

dangerous president (sic) for airfields around the UK.” 

The hay bales to which reference was being made can only have been those on Mr Muir’s land. 

127.  In the version attached to Mr Pike’s statement the third sentence had been removed and replaced by “I’m 

afraid with the trees at the end of the runway this is no longer the case” and the second paragraph was deleted. Mr 

Pike accepted that he had edited Mr Goodall’s email by making the alterations and forwarded it to himself and Mr 

Woodgate. His explanation for the change to the email is that after he received the email referring to the hay bales, 

he thinks he received a phone call from Mr Goodall who wanted to speak to him about the ongoing issues with the 

hay bales and the trees. In the course of the discussion Mr Goodall dictated the alterations to his email and asked 

Mr Pike to change it because it was the trees which were the problem whereas the bales of hay only affected one 

runway. He denied ringing Mr Goodall asking him whether he would change the email. 

128. Mr Pike’s explanation is implausible. It is difficult to follow why Mr Goodall would email Mr Pike to explain 

that the Harvard could not use Eshott because of the hay bales but then change his mind and not only pin the 

problem on the trees but remove his explanation as to the hay bales. If he, in the course of a conversation, 

informed Mr Pike that the trees were a problem for the Harvard, there would be no need to ask him to amend his 

earlier email. If he felt it was necessary to confirm what he had said in writing he could have sent a further email 

referring to the trees. It is unlikely, however, that, having identified the trees as a reason for cancelling the visit of 
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the Harvard he would have asked for his  original reason to be removed from correspondence. It is curious that the 

edited email keeps the reference to the bales being removed, but that is more likely to be oversight on the part of 

the editor, for if Mr Goodall had changed his mind about the bales one would expect that he would have removed 

that part of the email as well.  

129. There are suspicious features surrounding the use of the altered copy. Why should it be forwarded to Mr Pike 

and Mr Woodgate? Mr Pike said he saw Mr Woodgate every day. The terms and the timing of the message on the 

forwarded email are suspicious. The text of the email informs the reader what a blow the withdrawal of the 

Harvard would be and identifies the lost income. On what I heard from Mr Woodgate, the income figure is 

inflated as it is based on 31 flights whereas he told me in evidence that in 2018 there were about 20 flights. It is 

obvious that, although addressed to Pike and Woodgate, the message has been created to be seen by a different 

audience, most probably one concerned with the claims in this action; the email was attached to a statement from 

Mr Pike which he made in support of an application for an interim injunction made in November 2019. Messrs  

Pike and Woodgate would know what a blow it was and given that fact and their daily contact it is likely that they 

both knew of the original reason for the cancellation of the Harvard flights.  The forwarded email was sent on 7
th
 

August 2019, after the date on which the Harvard would have been flying at Eshott, 20
th

 July 2019, had the owners 

not pulled out. Messrs Pike and Woodgate did not need to be told on 7
th
 August that it was not coming as they 

knew by that date that it had not.  

130. There is also a considerable gap in time between the date of the original email and the edited version which 

was forwarded. That too suggests that the alterations were made when Mr Pike decided to use it in the context of a 

claim against the defendants; the date on which the message was forwarded was 2 days before the letter before 

action.  If Mr Goodall had phoned to discuss why the Harvard was not coming, it is likely that this would have 

occurred shortly after his email of 27
th

 June, and certainly before the date of the expected first flight on 20
th

 July 

2021. 

131.  I do not accept Mr Pike’s explanation for the differences between the two emails. In view of the factors I have 

identified, I find that he edited the email to substitute the reference to the trees in place of the hay bales because he 
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wanted there to be  evidence to support the claim against the defendant and not because he was requested to do so 

by Mr Goodall. I would add, that it is unlikely that Mr Goodall did change his mind as to the significance of the 

loss of Mr Muir’s land, as I accept Mr Clarehugh’s evidence that when he had his flight in the Harvard it not only 

took off from that land but he took part in sweeping that part of the runway to clear it of stones. Furthermore, 

Capt. Kingswood, himself a Harvard instructor pilot, expressed the unchallenged view that runway 08/26 is of 

insufficient length for this aircraft.  

132. A further suspicious feature of the emails is that Mr Pike did not refer to the original in his evidence, only the 

version he edited. The fact that all this only came out when he was confronted with the original is some evidence 

that he did not want the court to be aware of the Mr Goodall’s comments about the hay bales. A further disquieting 

factor on this issue were the responses of   Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate to questions  about the importance of the 

use of the runway extension to the Harvard. They must  have known when they gave those answers what Mr 

Goodall had said about the hay bales.  

133. I do not accept the evidence of Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate that the Harvard ceased to operate from Eshott due 

to the presence of the trees. It is thus unnecessary to quantify lost income resulting from its absence. It would, in 

any event, be difficult to do so as Mr Woodgate produced very little documentation to support his figures. He 

relied upon a single fuel invoice from which he said he could deduce the number of flights by averaging the 

amount of fuel per flight and applied the figures produced to an assumed growth in business. Asked if there were 

any records of these flights he said there may be and he might have looked at them. Quite apart from my view as 

to the credibility of Mr Woodgate, there is a lack of documentary support for the figures claimed and his  

assumptions as to the growth in business. I am also unpersuaded by his evidence that the claimant could have sold 

double the number of flights it achieved in 2018 during the pandemic in 2020. On the evidence, the most I can 

find is that the claimant would have sold an equivalent number of flights in 2019 to those sold in the previous 

year, that is those represented by the fuel invoice disclosed, but I am not satisfied that there would have been any 

flights in 2020 given the difficulties caused by the pandemic, not only as to the willingness and ability of the 

public to take part in such experiences, but also the difficulty of laying on such events. For example, Mr Goodall, 

the pilot who I saw on the  film of the Harvard,  is based in Bahrain. There was no evidence as to how he, or a 
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substitute, could be made available. In view of the fact that Mr Woodgate’s explanation  as to how he calculated 

the number of flights in the previous year only emerged in cross-examination, if the matter were to go further, the 

defendant should have the opportunity to investigate the number of flights this represents.  

The Kitfox 

134.  Mr Woodgate maintained that the owner of the Kitfox, Mr Dennington, removed his aircraft from Eshott as he 

no longer felt it safe to operate from the airfield due to the presence of the trees. Mr Pike included the loss of Mr 

Dennington’s plane in the schedule of loss attached to his 2019 statement. He blamed the tree for the accident for 

he said the Kitfox would not have hit the tree had it not been beside the runway. Mr Woodgate calculated this loss 

as £3,975 with an ongoing loss of £1,935pa. based on monthly hangerage charges of £135.  

135. The defendants made a late application to call Mr Dennington on the basis that he had been difficult to contact. 

I permitted the application. He exhibited to his statement a photograph of an electronic payment, from his phone, 

which showed that he paid £90 to the claimant which, he said, was the correct monthly payment. At the beginning 

of his evidence, thus after I had admitted that of Mr Dennington, Mr Woodgate said that  he had made an error in 

calculating the charges at £135 as that related to aircraft with extended wings whereas Mr Dennington stored his 

Kitfox with wings folded, for which £90 was the correct rate. When asked how he came to make the mistake he 

said that the claimant kept records but did not explain how he had made the error.  

136. Mr Dennington told me that he had removed his aircraft from Eshott as he was not flying due to a family 

bereavement and personal problems. He found somewhere cheaper to store his plane and that was the reason for 

its removal. It had nothing to do with the trees. Attempts were made to discredit Mr Dennington but he struck me 

as an honest, indeed phlegmatic, witness; when asked in cross-examination why he had not sued the instructor he 

believed was responsible for the crash he said he was happy he walked away from the crash uninjured, received 

the insurance for the plane and did not agree with the compensation culture. In comparison, Mr Woodgate claimed 

that Mr Dennington removed his plane due to the trees but, when questioned as to the source of his knowledge, 

said he did not know why he left and accepted that this was a speculative claim. This was another example as to 

why I must doubt Mr Woodgate’s credibility, for he was prepared to claim as fact something which he did not 
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know to be true or have a reasoned basis for believing to be true. Further, I doubt that he would have corrected his 

evidence as to the charging rate had it not been for the fact that the defendants had been able to find Mr 

Dennington. The concession as to the rate was only made after he had given his evidence. 

137. I find that Mr Dennington removed his aircraft from Eshott for reasons unrelated to the trees. Mr Pike’s 

assertion that the collision would not have happened if the tree had not been in the way assumes that pilots were 

entitled to cross onto the defendants’ land. They did not. The evidence as to the cause of the crash was that as the 

aircraft became unstable on landing the instructor tried to pull it up into a turn but the engine cut out and it fell 

onto the defendant’s land hitting a tree. Had it not hit a tree it could have hit anything else on the land. The attempt 

to somehow place the destruction of the plane on the presence of the tree had an opportunistic ring to it. This head 

of claim fails.  

The PA28 Crash 

138. The basis of the claim is that the aircraft is not being flown as the owners consider it is too dangerous to use 

whilst the trees continue to be an obstacle. It is  being stored at no charge to the owners of the aircraft, who happen 

to be 3 directors of the claimant, albeit it is registered in the name of North East Aviation Ltd. The claim is made 

up as to £93,755.11 lost flight income from lessons from December 2018 to date and continuing at £304.69 per 

day, lost fuel sales during the same period of £52,555.79 and continuing at £155.71 per day, unpaid hangarage for 

that period of £4,400 and continuing at £200 per month and lost airfield memberships of £3,090. The total to the 

date of the amended particulars of claim is £153,800.90. 

139. The  reason for the grounding of the plane appears in the evidence of Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate. They 

acknowledge that they bought the PA28 at a time at which the trees were at the height of which they now 

complain, but that was a time at which Mr Clarehugh was indicating he was promising to cut down trees. They say 

the crash on 26 October 2018 was a wake up call which led them to conclude that the trees presented too much 

danger to permit the PA28 to be used by the flying school. Mr Pike says that private PA28s can continue to use the 

site.  
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140. This claim faces two difficulties. The first is that the explanation for grounding the plane and the quantification 

of loss depends upon the evidence of two witnesses whom I regard as unreliable. The second is that the claim, 

which is for a substantial amount, is supported by very little corroborative documentation. It depends upon Mr 

Woodgate’s analysis of 26 invoices to an un-named payee, 2 invoices to North East Aviation Limited, only one of 

which makes express reference to this plane. The second invoice claims for fuel in November and December 

2018, which post-dates the crash. There is also a fuel log sheet for the period 30
 
August to 31 October 2018 which 

seems to correspond to the unnamed invoices and shows that fuel was drawn by Purple, which is the trading name 

of Eshott School of Flying Limited.  

141. There is also an inconsistency in the evidence as to loss. In response to a question as to why hangarage was not 

charged for the plane, Mr Woodgate said if it was in one piece it would be charged hangerage but it is stored in a 

corner in pieces, though he has all the parts, having received an insurance payment for the damage. The schedules 

he has produced to support the loss, however, refer to the aircraft being under repair and having been repaired. A 

further discrepancy exists between Mr Woodgate’s schedules and his statement. At paragraph 22 of his statement 

he does not include the claim for flight income losses, amounting to 61% of the PA28 claim, as being included in 

the losses claimed. He says that the claim is for the loss of fuel sales, hangarage income and airfield members 

specific to the aircraft. There is no explanation as to what the loss of flight income represents. Mr Pike indicates 

that there is a loss of income from flying lessons in the schedule attached to his November 2019 statement but how 

that translates to loss to the claimant as opposed to the owners of the aircraft or instructors in not explained in 

either witnesses’ schedule of loss. 

142. Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate both attribute the accident to the presence of the trees. Mr Woodgate claims that the 

pilot told him that he slammed on the breaks as he realised he could not go round again due to the obstacle 

presented by the trees. There has been no evidence directly from the pilot to this effect. The AAIB report of the 

accident, which is based on information from the pilot and the flying school, does not record that anything was 

said concerning the trees having any part in this accident. The only comment of the AAIB is that the length of the 

runway is shorter than that used for ab initio training and should be considered as challenging for an early soloist. 

Capt. Kingswood, who has considerable experience of dealing with AAIB, he is a safety manager for a flying 
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academy, and whose evidence on the subject I accept, says that the AAIB would have noted any issues which 

compromised safety in its report. It follows that if it had been said by the pilot or flying school  that the trees were 

in some way causative of the accident this would have been dealt with in the report. I am not persuaded by the 

claimant’s directors that the pilot did indicate that the trees played a part in the accident. In those circumstances, 

the evidence that this was a wake- up call lacks substance. 

143. There could be some support in the claimant’s explanation for grounding the PA 28 in the evidence of Mr 

Fairbank as to the performance calculation indicating that at full weight the PA 28 would have insufficient 

runway; he did not say how much reduction in weight was necessary to overcome this difficulty. Nevertheless, up 

to the date of the accident, it must have been clearing the trees and it is most unlikely that they would have grown 

markedly between 26
th

 October 2018, the date of the accident,  and December 2018 when, according to Mr 

Woodgate’s schedule of lost income,  the PA28 was no longer under repair but was withdrawn from the flight 

school because Mr Clarehugh was refusing to reduce the height of the trees. Furthermore, up to that stage it was 

being used by the flying school. 

144. The claim for damages in relation to the PA28 depends upon my acceptance of Mr Pike’s and Mr Woodgate’s 

explanation as to why it was grounded. Looking at the evidence in the round and my concern as  to their 

credibility, I am not persuaded that the PA28 has been kept out of service because the claimant’s directors decided 

that it was unsafe to use until the trees were removed. The claim arising from the loss of use of this aircraft fails on 

causation. 

145. In case I am wrong about that, I will look at the quantum of the claim. Mr Woodgate’s method to compute the 

loss has been to count the number of days in a 55 day period, preceding the crash, the PA28 was flying. He has 

taken this figure from the entries in the records of fuel drawn. He calculates that the plane flew for .45 of the days 

within that period at an average of 3 hours per day at a profit of £65 per hour. This is the basis of the claim headed 

‘Flight Income Loss’. He gives figures for daily profit where 2 instructors are available, £243.75, and 3 instructors 

being available, £304.69; the profit increases because the number of hours flying increases with more instructors. 

He calculated this loss on the basis that there would be 1 instructor in 2018, 2 in 2019 and 3 in 2020.  
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146. There is no breakdown or documentary support as to how the profit per hour figure is reached or explanation 

and supporting evidence to underpin the assumption that there will be an increase in the number of instructors year 

on year. Neither is there documentary evidence to support the underlying assertion that every flight  in the 55 days 

was for a lesson or that the claimant has ever received payment for flights made by students under instruction, 

either as the price of a lesson or the use of the airfield by the flying school. I also note that Mr Woodgate does not 

apply increases to his claims for lost fuel sales in line with the assumed increase in hours flown due to the 

additional instructors, which further indicates that these are what may be called “off the wall” figures. In view of 

the absence of detail, documentary support and absence of explanation, coupled with the fact that all but the 

evidence as to the drawing of fuel depends upon the credibility of Mr Woodgate, I am not satisfied that the 

claimant has suffered any loss of, what the claimant calls, flight income. 

147. The fuel claim has independent support in the form of records of fuel drawn. This produces an average  daily 

usage of 96.12 litres for each of the days on which it is estimated the aircraft would have been used, i.e.  .45% of 

the year. The fuel price changed from £1.47 in 2018 to £1.65 in 2019 and £1.62 in 2020, that much I will accept 

from Mr Woodgate as it is something which the defendants have not challenged and was objectively verifiable by 

them if they chose to do so. The loss of income for 2018 is £2,183.67 and for 2019, £29,421.48. There is also a 

claim for 2020 of £20,950.66 but Mr Woodgate accepted that he was wrong in predicting that level of sales in 

view of the pandemic and that during lockdown there would have been no sales.  He did not put forward any 

alternative figure or explanation as to how flying training could have been, or was, organised when the country 

was out of lockdown but social distancing and the uncertainty as to the rules on staying in one’s locality were in 

force. He said that the profit on fuel was 45%. He did not provide any documentation to support this but Miss 

Jarron relied on the figure in her closing submissions. On this evidence the most that I could find has been lost due 

to the absence of fuel sales is the total of the 2018 and 2019 figures, £31,605.13, discounted to reflect that 45% of 

that sum represented profit, a loss of £14,222. There is no continuing loss to the date of this judgment as the 

country is still in lockdown. 

148. The quantification of the  unpaid hangarage charge relies entirely upon the credibility of Mr Pike and Mr 

Woodgate as does the reason for such charges being unpaid. Any such claim would be met with suspicion as 
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hangarage has not been paid because  the directors of the claimant have decided not to charge themselves for 

storing their plane. There is the discrepancy in the evidence as to whether payment was not sought because the 

plane is in pieces, when there is other evidence that it had been repaired, to be considered.  There is also the fact 

that the claimant has not produced any record that hangarage has ever been invoiced or paid by them to the 

claimant. If the directors of the claimant choose not to charge for hangarage, that is a matter for them but they 

have not been prevented from doing so merely because the plane is not being used for flying tuition. Both on that 

ground and the absence of any evidence of there having been a charge levied for hangerage beyond the bare 

assertion of Mr Woodgate and Mr Pike, I am not persuaded that there was any loss of hangarage income. 

149. The loss of membership claim depends on the evidence of Mr Woodgate. He says that the claimant has lost 3 

members in 2018, 10 in 2019 and 10 in 2020. This arises because Newcastle airport had decreased its flight 

training resulting in Eshott gaining about 20 students who wanted to fly the PA28. He estimated that some may 

have left Eshott, in concluding how many additional members would have remained in order to produce  his 

figures for loss. Membership fees were £130 in 2018 and £135 in 2019 and 2020. The total claimed is £3,090. This 

should have been a very simple claim to document given that the claimant knows the identities of the individuals 

involved and could ascertain who remained and any reasons for leaving. In the absence of corroborative evidence 

as to who came for lessons and some evidence which supports the assertion that about 50% of those taking lessons 

would become members but have not done so, I do not find, on balance, that there has been a loss in this respect. 

The Pilatus PC12 loss of fuel sales 

150. In the schedule of loss attached to his statement, Mr Pike said that there was an agreement for the fleet 

refuelling of PC 12 aircraft when they were in the area. They could not take off with a full load of fuel whilst the 

trees are in place and now refuel elsewhere. Mr Woodgate said there was an email containing the flight refuelling 

agreement which he believed was in Mr Pike’s statement, there is no such document attached. 

151.  The claim covers the period 2019 and 2020 and is ongoing at £594 per flight. Mr Woodgate has produced a 

table, headed ‘analysis’ which states that the average fuel uplift is 600 litres, there are 0.5 flights per month in 

2019 and the cost of fuel, AvTur-F34 Jet A1, is 99p per litre. For 2020, the figures are 600 litres at 79p per litre 
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but the number of flights has risen to 8 per month for a period of 8 months up to the date of his statement. Thus, 

the figure for 2019 is £3,564 and 2020, £30,336. He produced a fuel log sheet showing the sale of Jet Fuel for  PC-

12s between 15.06.18 to 15.11.19 together with some matching invoices,  but other than that he said he had no 

figures for fuel uplifts by PC-12s for 2016 to 2019, inclusive, albeit the claimant has been selling AvTur fuel since 

2017. Pc-12s are still using the airfield. Mr Clarehugh has seen them. Mr Woodgate said there has been an 

increase in such use in in 2020 to transport wealthy businessmen during the pandemic. Mr Woodgate also 

produced handling  requests between 15
th
 June and 31

st
  August 2020 relating to  visits by PC-12s. Of the 18 

requests, 16 were from Lynn’s Country Foods Limited and these showed that fuel was not required. The requests 

contain information as to the various points and times of  departure and arrival of the aircraft, the passenger details 

and the airfield services required. Each of the requests deals with arrivals and departures for a number of locations 

so the requests, such as for no fuel or ground transport, would appear to apply to them all.  

152. Mr Woodgate was asked how he came to his 600 litre figure as this was not supported by the invoices or fuel 

log he produced. He said that this was a speculative assessment as this level of business had not happened. It was a 

speculative uplift he had applied but it was more than simple guesswork. On any view, it must be the case that as 

regards the  number of actual flights received and fuel uplift, there was no need to guess as there must be records 

of aircraft movement and fuel log sheets from which the number of aircraft visiting and fuel sold year on year 

would be apparent. 

153. Capt. Kingswood’s evidence was that Eshott is a marginal airfield for PC-12s due to the length of the runways. 

He produced calculations based on the AIC guidance to the effect that the PC-12 did not have enough runway to 

take off and land unless it limited its weight by limiting the number of passengers or fuel on board. 

154. Starting with the factual question as to whether PC-12s stopped fuelling at Eshott in 2019, there is 

documentary evidence that this is not the case. The fuel log sheet starting 11/11/19 shows fuel being sold on11th, 

14
th
  and 15

th
  November. It is odd that the schedule starts in November and it seems unlikely that there was no 

earlier log for the year as the only other log I have been shown is for 15.06.18 to 17.10.18 and one of the aircraft 

on the November 2019 log appears on the earlier log as does G-LSFG which is said to be a PC-12. There is no 
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documentary evidence to show that there were, or would have been, 8 visits by a PC-12 per month or that all PC-

12s which visited took fuel. There is no documentary evidence produced to support the existence of an agreement 

with a fleet operator to fill their aircraft when passing. There is, however, evidence that PC-12s are still using the 

airfield. There is also such  documentary evidence as has been produced showing that the PC-12s have not, in 

general, been taking 600 litres at a time. On the contrary, the logs which have been produced show only 2 

occasions when that amount of fuel was taken.  

155. Taking into account the sources of the evidence as to the existence of an agreement for the sale of fuel to a PC-

12 operator and the absence of documentary or other independent evidence to support its existence, the fact that 

the claim as to the quantity of fuel sold seems to me to be un-informed speculation from a witness who has been 

prepared to make incorrect and unfounded assertions in relation to other heads of loss in order  to advance the 

claimant’s case , and the lack of documentation to evidence the sale of fuel where such documents must exist, for 

example to  show the regular purchase of fuel from 2017 onwards, I am not persuaded, on balance, that there was 

an agreement as suggested by Mr Woodgate or that PC-12s are no longer fuelling at Eshott due to the height of the 

trees. It is much more likely that, as suggested by Capt. Kingswood, the length of the runways are a limiting 

factor, not in using Eshott at all, but requiring the  pilots to ensure that the weight of their aircraft is at a level at 

which they can be confident that they have enough runway, whether by performing the AIC calculations or by the 

application of experience, particularly because they often have several passengers on board. The claim for loss of 

fuel sales under this head fails. 

The claim for an injunction 

156. Miss Jarron recognises, realistically, that this is not a case for damages in lieu of an injunction. Neither has she 

relied upon Mr Clarehugh’s evidence as to the impact of an order to remove or shorten the trees in her submissions 

as to the substantive issues or those relating to relief. The claimant is being prevented from using the easement 

which it was granted to the extent to which it was entitled and which has had an impact on the  safety of landing 

and take-off.  It is a great shame that the case could not be resolved out of court, for at one time the parties seemed 

to be moving towards some accommodation and the proceedings have led the parties to adopt somewhat extreme 
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positions. The claimants are intent on large scale removal of parts of the woodland, as per Plan B,  and Mr 

Clarehugh seemed to me to have adopted a somewhat fatalistic position that the matter was out of his hands and 

the  decision as to the removal and reduction in the height of trees should be left to the court. Since he has adopted 

this position it does seem to me that the court will need to put in place a regime to ensure that the claimant can 

enjoy the use of its easement without interference. If I were not to do so the difficulties between these parties will 

continue.  

157. In the light of these conclusions, I will exercise my discretion to order the interference with the easement to 

stop by the removal or reduction in height of trees to enable to the claimant and its visitors to land at an angle 

which enables them to pass over the defendants’ land by 20ft at the boundary between their properties and to do so 

without having anything permanently on the land which prevents the pilots having at least 20ft of space beneath 

them. This order will relate to the trees between the lines marked 1 on the plan as I accept that some aircraft must 

use the splay in order to turn into the landing track in view of the evidence of Mr Pike and Mr Woodgate, 

supported to a limited extent by Mr Wright, that certain tail wheeled aircraft have poor forward visibility, dictating 

an angled approach to observe the numbers before turning towards the runway through the splay. There will also 

be a declaration which must define the minimum angle of descent which should be available to the claimant in 

order to cross the boundary at 20 feet.  

158. These orders will not prevent the defendants using  machinery on the land used in the ordinary course of 

agriculture which may reach into the clear  airspace which the claimants are entitled to have as a buffer as the 

defendants are not precluded from using this space save to the extent that their use substantially interferes with the 

easement. I should make it clear that the leaving of machinery on the land for no purpose other than to reduce the 

available airspace, as has been alleged in these proceedings, would be regarded as an interference with the 

easement.  It is a feature of such arrangements where space is shared that both the dominant owner must use the 

way reasonably and the servient owner must not prevent them from doing so. Neither will the order or declaration 

permit the claimant to fly over the entirety of the defendant’s land at 20 feet, but only in so far as is necessary to 

reach that height at the boundary for landing and take-off. The precise terms of the injunction and declaration 
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should be discussed between the parties and will be considered at the hearing to hand down judgment, or if 

necessary an adjourned hearing. 

159. The fact that this case has been fought to the bitter end is unproductive as the parties are neighbours, those trees 

which have to be reduced in height will undoubtedly grow, which may require further discussion,  and there will 

need to be give and take in the use of the easement to protect those on the ground and in the air. I hope that once 

the post injunction arrangements are in place the parties will be able to turn a new chapter.    

160. There will clearly need to be another hearing to deal with settling the order, costs and any consequential 

applications. I would like to hand down the judgment at the same time but if the listing of the hearing is delayed I 

will hand down without attendance and adjourn the balance of the decision making hearing to another day. I 

would ask counsel to see if they are able to agree a draft order, in part at least in advance of the hearing. I propose 

to hand down judgment at the Moot Hall in Newcastle at 10.30 on Wednesday 7 April 2021, half a day allowed. 

Please inform the court and me by 12 noon on Monday 15 March 2021 if all parties are available for that date. 
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